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Wednesday, June 12, 2013


--- On commencing at 1:00 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we'll get started.  It is one o'clock.  Good afternoon.  Welcome to this, the technical conference for EB-2012-0451, EB-2012-0433 and EB-2013-0074.  This is the technical conference, as I've just said.


My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I will act as the ringmaster, hopefully, for this event.  Of course, I'm not here representing the Board Panel and I can't make any rulings or anything of that nature.


We have a very tight agenda, so I'm going to ask upfront that the parties do their best to cooperate and we'll try and get through this as expeditiously as possible.


A couple of announcements that some of you may have heard, but perhaps not all.  We were scheduled to have -- we were scheduled to have a joint panel between Enbridge and Union tomorrow at the end of the day.  I'm advised by the parties that they no longer plan to present that panel.  So to the extent you had questions you were going to save for that panel, you would be better advised to ask them to the individual Enbridge and Union panels.


There have been some confidential materials filed in this proceeding only by Enbridge, I believe.  It's my hope and understanding that we won't have to go in camera to discuss everything -- pardon me, discuss anything, but I ask you to keep that in mind.  Of course, if it looks like you are getting into a confidential document, be very careful not to go there until we make arrangements to go off the public record.


I'll turn it over to Mr. Cass, because Enbridge is going first, I understand, but before we do that, why don't we take appearances.

Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mike.  Fred Cass and Scott Stoll for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Beside us is Edith Chin.  The witnesses for the first panel are in their seats.  They will identify themselves when we are ready to start with the questions.


MR. SMITH:  Crawford Smith, counsel to Union Gas, and with me are Mark Kitchen and Karen Hockin from Union Gas.


MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett, counsel for BOMA.


MR. ELSON:  Kent Elson, counsel for Environmental Defence, and Jack Gibbons, consultant for Environmental Defence.


MR. POCH:  David Poch, counsel for the Green Energy Coalition.


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.


MR. DeROSE:  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada, and Mark Garner, Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman on behalf of VECC.


DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for the London Property Management Association.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik for APPrO.


MR. RHEAUME:  Dave Rheaume with Audry Bazinet from Gaz Métropolitain.


MR. MILLAR:  Anyone else making an appearance?


MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross with TransCanada, and with me is Lisa DeAbreu.


MR. MILLAR:  In case the court reporter didn't get it, it's Murray Ross for TransCanada Pipeline.  Sorry, who was your colleague, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Lisa DeAbreu.


MR. MILLAR:  Lisa DeAbreu, thank you.


Any there any preliminary matters before we get started?  Okay, let's keep the ball rolling.  Mr. Cass, would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed.  Thank you, Mike.  The first panel, of course, is to address issue A1, purpose, need and timing.  We have nothing of an introductory nature.  I propose simply that the panel members themselves just identify themselves and give their position, starting with Joel Denomy, who is the furthest from me.


MR. DENOMY:  Good afternoon, Joel Denomy.  I'm the manager of gas supply and strategy at Union Gas Distribution.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Nick Thalassinos.  I'm the chief engineer.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Malini Giridhar, vice president gas supply.


MR. FERNANDES:  Craig Fernandes, senior manager regulatory for the GTA project.


MS. SUAREZ:  Margarita Suarez, manager for economic and market analysis.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1


Margarita Suarez


Craig Fernandes


Malini Giridhar


Nick Thalassinos


Joel Denomy


MR. CASS:  So that's it, Mike.  The questions can proceed.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  We had some general discussions on an order.  I think Staff had agreed to go first with this panel.  Then I understand Mr. Smith actually had some questions on behalf of Union, and then we'll fill in as we can.  So I'll begin.

Questions by Mr. Millar:


Good afternoon, panel.  My questions are chiefly in regard to Interrogatory No. 7.  That is Enbridge response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 7, which I guess is I.A1 EGD Staff 7.


You'll see that it's not a lengthy question or response.  You'll see there we asked the company some questions about the extent to which your GTA project, A and B, are dependent on the Parkway-Maple line being built.


If you flip to page 2 of the response, in fact the only response, the response to (a) is:  The GTA project is not dependent on TransCanada expanding facilities from Parkway-to-Maple.


So I just wanted to follow up on that a little bit.  The answer certainly answers the specific question, but if I could broaden it a little bit, can I ask you to what extent the GTA project, either segment A or segment B, is dependent on Union's Brantford-to-Kirkwall pipeline being built?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that the Brantford-to-Kirkwall loop is a function of composite demand on the Union pipeline, and it consists of demand from the GTA project in addition to demand from other shippers.


So Enbridge is not able to definitely answer the Brantford-to-Kirkwall loop is required to meet the GTA project demand.  My understanding was that it was a function of total demand, total incremental demand.


MR. MILLAR:  So who would know the answer to that?  Union?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Union.


MR. MILLAR:  So I can ask Union?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe this is the same question; maybe it's not.  Part of the Brantford-to-Kirkwall project, it includes a compressor.  You're aware of that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I should have spoken more clearly.  I understood Union's growth projects to include two things.  One was a pipeline loop from Brantford-to-Kirkwall, and the other one was growth compression at the Parkway West facility.  And the latter is required for the GTA project.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, the Parkway West compressor?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, the growth compressor, Parkway D.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think we're on the same page.  That is required for the GTA project?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  For the incremental volumes that will flow on the GTA project.


MR. MILLAR:  If that is not built, you couldn't go ahead with GTA A or B; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Actually, the growth compressor is required for the volumes that flow on segment A.  All remaining items of the project could still be put into place --


MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say --


MR. FERNANDES:  -- under the assumption the Parkway West site was still built.  So we have three segregated sets of facilities.  Grouped together are Parkway West Gate Station, along with a tie-in section and the Parkway regulation bypass.  That group of facilities acts as a back-up to Parkway, and it is dependent on the Parkway West facility, but not on the growth compressor.


The segment A pipeline is dependent on the growth compressor, which does somewhat assume that you need the Parkway West facility.  But the segment B and associated facilities with it does not have any dependency at all with either of Union's applications.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to break that down a little, do I understand that segment B is pretty much independent of anything, and you would build that irrespective of anything else happening?


MR. FERNANDES:  It's completely contained within our distribution system.  It has no dependency on any other project.


MR. MILLAR:  So you could build that without anything else being changed on the system?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And for A, you do need the growth compressor to go forward with segment A?


MR. FERNANDES:  Segment A is taking compressed volumes; therefore it needs compressor -- our understanding is the compression at Parkway is full and, therefore, it requires incremental compression.


MR. MILLAR:  In terms of -- you spoke of a third segment, and that's the work you are doing at the Parkway West Gate Station?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


THE COURT:  That's not actually physically connected to segment A; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  In our initial application it was, but since we've moved the initiation point of segment A to the Bram West interconnect with TransCanada, those facilities are now still contained at the Parkway West site or the immediate vicinity.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there additional work being done between the Parkway West Gate Station and the Bram West interconnect?  Aside from these facilities you are building right at Parkway West, has there been any upgrade to that line, for example?


MR. FERNANDES:  No.  The shortening of segment A is dependent on us using TransCanada's existing facilities from Parkway to Bram West.


MR. MILLAR:  So they don't have to expand those facilities and -- they don't have to do anything?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you can get enough gas through that line to serve your needs?


MR. FERNANDES:  We need the actual interconnect, but there is no in-between point, no upgrade required, is our understanding.


MR. MILLAR:  And you are building the interconnect, not TCPL?


MR. FERNANDES:  TCPL has to tie in to their line, but it's a tie-in and we're building segment A.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll get to some more questions about TCPL, but there's been some discussion that the Parkway-Maple project may be on hold.  Is anything that -- had there been any changes of plans from TCPL, for example, that would affect that Parkway West gate station, your interconnect there?


MR. FERNANDES:  The Parkway West gate station has no connection to any negotiations or anything with TCPL.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't need them?


MR. FERNANDES:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  You may have already answered this, but just to make sure the record is clear, other than the facilities we've just discussed -- for example, the Parkway West gate station and the growth compressor -- are there any other infrastructure requirements that have to be built that will provide the required gas for either segment A or segment B?  So you have to build anything else?


MR. FERNANDES:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Does anything else have to build anything else?


MR. FERNANDES:  No.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The supply source for the GTA project comes from two sources.


One is Dawn, and that is linked to Union's application.


The other is sourcing supply at Niagara up TransCanada's Hamilton line, and we're not completely aware as to what the nature of the upgrades might be, but it is our understanding, based on a presentation from TransCanada, that they might have to do some minor upgrades to allow us to receive gas from Marcellus up their Hamilton line into our Parkway facility.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have an idea what those improvements might be?  Are we talking expanded pipeline facilities, or increased pressures, or we're dealing --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that it consists of yard piping.


MR. FERNANDES:  Yard piping and maybe some valves.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any indication that that might be delayed or that TCPL may be having second thoughts about building that infrastructure?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The MOU contemplates TransCanada having an open season and Enbridge bidding for capacity on that line as a result.  And we are not aware that TransCanada has changed its plans in that regard, so we assume that it will go ahead.


MR. MILLAR:  TransCanada -- forgive me if this is already part of the application, but there have been some changes to the evidence and I may have missed a few things.


I understand that segment A is being done with TCPL; is that right?  Or TCPL is involved with your segment A?  It's a joint venture of some type?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The memorandum of understanding, which is filed at CME 7, I believe, does talk about joint ownership of segment A.  However, the two parties were unable to agree on a term sheet for ownership, and TCPL conveyed to us their intent that we should proceed with a transportation service arrangement such that Enbridge owns segment A and TransCanada takes a service on that line.


So segment A will be wholly owned by Enbridge and operated by Enbridge.


MR. MILLAR:  And TCPL would just be a customer?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  That's the current plan?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  I think there will probably be some questions on the MOU from, probably, on Mr. DeRose and Mr. Smith, as well, so I'll leave that for them.


Thank you panel.  Those are my questions.


Mr. Smith, are you prepared to go?

Questions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Thank you.  These questions will be in relation to the memorandum of understanding.  My understanding is that that's filed at CME 6 as attachments 3 and following.


Just so I'm clear, am I right that there -- the memorandum of understanding itself is made as of the 28th of January, 2013, and there have been two amendments to that agreement?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And the most agreement amendment was dated May 21st.


And this picks up on what you just indicated, but my understanding is that TCPL has given notice pursuant to the MOU as amended, electing election number 2; is that correct?


And the parties have failed to agree on a term sheet and failed to agree by the term sheet date; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that it is the intention that Enbridge will own and operate the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And by Enbridge pipeline, that's segment A?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Am I further correct that under the MOU as amended, Enbridge will have for its use 800,000 gJs of capacity per day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that capacity above that will be for TransCanada's use?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that schedule D sets out the primary commercial terms of the TBO agreement?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that's transportation by others?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that, I think we've just confirmed that, but that provides that TCPL shall be entitled to the balance of the capacity on the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me whether the Enbridge board has given the approvals contemplated in the MOU at section 2.6A, Roman numeral V?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it has.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And am I correct, then, that even if the MOU is terminated, then sections 15 and 16 of schedule B survive?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Let me just go back.  I think that --


MR. SMITH:  I think you'll find that at section 2.7.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Under election 2, sections 15 and 16 survive.


MR. SMITH:  Am I right that even if TransCanada does not build from Albion to Maple, TransCanada has, for its own use, capacity on the Enbridge line for at least 10 years?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that, please?


MR. SMITH:  Am I right that even if TransCanada does not build from Albion to Maple, that TransCanada has, for its own use, capacity on the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Under election 2, TransCanada has the option to exercise by November 1 of 2014 the option to take capacity on the Enbridge pipeline, and the option expires at that point.


In the event -- I'm presuming you are asking the question if TransCanada exercised the option?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  They would have had the capacity for 10 years.  I would presume if they exercise the option that they would also build from Albion to Maple.  That is certainly the understanding.


MR. SMITH:  But there is no requirement that they do so?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would have to get back to you on that.


MR. SMITH:  If you would.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would not view that as being in the spirit of the MOU.


MR. MILLAR:  You would like an understanding, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I would.


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't you repeat the...


MR. SMITH:  That there is no obligation on TransCanada to build, under the MOU, no obligation to build from Albion to Maple in order to retain capacity to Enbridge pipeline.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking JT1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER TRANSCANADA IS OBLIGATED UNDER THE MOU TO BUILD FROM ALBION TO MAPLE IN ORDER TO RETAIN CAPACITY TO ENBRIDGE PIPELINE.


MR. SMITH:  Does Enbridge agree that the Board storage and transportation access rule applies to the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge has taken a different approach to this pipeline.  And it has stemmed from the Ontario Energy Board's directive in Union's 2013 case for the three parties to work together.


And therefore the approach that Enbridge has taken is actually outlined in the MOU.  The intent of the MOU is for both Enbridge and TransCanada to provide -- well, they are outlined in 2.1.  And so the extent of the MOU really is for both parties to work on an efficient plan to use existing infrastructure, but also coordinate the future growth of infrastructure through the corridor.


And the discussions have been around -- as you can see in the MOU, around joint ownership of the pipeline, but also allowing for transportation by other service by TransCanada.


Given that a party taking capacity on the Enbridge pipeline necessarily would require downstream infrastructure from the Enbridge pipeline, the view was that this could be exempt under STAR.


MR. SMITH:  Which provisions of STAR? do you rely on in respect of the assertion that STAR does not apply?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't have a specific provision that I can attest to at this point in time.


MR. SMITH:  Well, will you give me an undertaking to tell me which section of STAR provides for the exemption that you've outlined?


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE SECTION OF STAR WHICH PROVIDES EXEMPTION.


MR. SMITH:  Obviously Union is not a party to the memorandum of understanding; that's correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Did Enbridge hold an open season in respect of the capacity on the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It did not.


MR. SMITH:  Does Enbridge intend to hold such an open season?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, under the election that TransCanada has made - I believe it's section 15 and 16, ought to be viewed in context - Enbridge is -- one of the obligations that survives the termination of the -- or the termination of the MOU is that Enbridge will use the Enbridge pipeline to meet the distribution needs of its customers.


MR. SMITH:  Not quite my question.  My question is:  Does Enbridge intend to hold an open season in respect of at least the 800,000 gJs of capacity beyond the 800,000 which Enbridge has reserved for itself?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is it would require an amendment of the MOU for Enbridge to be able to hold that open season.


MR. SMITH:  So I take from that that under the memorandum of understanding not only is Enbridge not intending to hold an open season, but it is precluded by the memorandum of understanding from doing so?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I should also point out that the spirit of the memorandum of understanding is outlined in Board Staff 48, and certainly it contemplates the coordinated build of infrastructure for both Enbridge's customers, as well as TransCanada's shippers.  So the intent of the MOU certainly is -- there's at least two surviving obligations for TransCanada.


One is that TransCanada will respond to any service requests from Enbridge for future service from the Parkway -- on the Parkway-to-Maple path for its customers.  There's also surviving obligation that TransCanada will work with the eastern LDCs to expand the short haul path under commercially reasonable terms.


MR. SMITH:  Of course when the memorandum of understanding was first entered into in January, my understanding is that the intention of TransCanada was to build from Parkway-to-Maple for an in-service date of November 15; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that date has changed to now November '17, correct, November 2017, not 2015?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The election that was made by TransCanada and the accompanying letter outlines their intentions.  If you could just give me a second, I'll find it.  It's an attachment 5, CME 6, and the second paragraph states that:

"TransCanada will however continue to pursue the project keeping to go a November 1, 2015 in-service date."


MR. SMITH:  Well, but by "project", we're talking about the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe TransCanada is referring to their project to connect from Albion to Maple?


MR. SMITH:  Your understanding is TransCanada intends to build from Parkway-to-Maple by November 15, 2015?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  On what is that based?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry?


MR. SMITH:  On what is that based?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is based on -- as explained in Board Staff 48, again, that is based on their current intent to replace backhaul capacity on the Great Lakes system with forward haul capacity in order to meet their system requirements.


MR. SMITH:  It is your understanding that that capacity is in respect of existing demand on the TransCanada system or new incremental demand?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is existing demand on the TransCanada system.


MR. SMITH:  So not incremental demand?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  I see.  Just while we're talking about existing demand, are you aware of the volume shipped by TransCanada backhaul on the Great Lakes gas transmission system from Manitoba back to Toronto?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Is it my understanding it is approximately half a BCF of capacity.  It could be 500 tJs.  I get confused between the measurement.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you, is Enbridge prepared to provide capacity to Union for its needs and those of its customers on the Enbridge pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As I explained a few minutes ago, the provisions of the MOU do not allow us to do so as a result of clause 15, I believe.


MR. SMITH:  Are you aware the memorandum of understanding refers to a new capacity open season held by TransCanada?  You're aware of that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Are you aware Union bid into that new capacity open season?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to attachment 4, please, of CME 6?


Maybe before we go to that, can I ask you to turn to attachment 5.  Do you have that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to look at recital C?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Recital C says:

"Due to the impacts of the NEB decision in the RH-003-2011 decision, the current intent of TransCanada's utilization of the Enbridge pipeline has changed."


Do you agree with me that what is being referred to there is what we just discussed, that the Enbridge pipeline will be used for existing TransCanada demands, but not incremental demand?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  At this point in time, that is correct.


MR. SMITH:  Am I correct that TransCanada's application to review and vary that decision was dismissed by decision of the NEB yesterday?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to attachment 4, please?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could I maybe just add something to what I just said?  I would like to point you to a clause in the same amendment.  I'm just trying to find it.  Sorry, please give me another minute.


If you could turn to page 7 of 9 and clause L?


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, 7 of 9 of which?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Of attachment 5.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is explicit recognition in this amendment, and it is a surviving obligation for TransCanada.  And it states that:

“TransCanada agrees to work with the eastern local distribution companies and the market in a cooperative and timely manner to establish terms and conditions to be brought to the NEB for approval, under which TransCanada could expand the TransCanada system for short-haul service requests on a commercially reasonable basis."


This is in recognition of the fact that the origin of the discussions between TransCanada and Enbridge were focused on meeting the incremental demands of Enbridge's customers, as well as TransCanada shippers.


MR. SMITH:  But of course you agree with me this doesn't provide a firm obligation on them to build by any particular point?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to return back to attachment 4?  And I just have a couple of questions about the preamble, the recitals, and in particular -- some of what is set out there we've already covered off, so I won't belabour it.


Recital D refers to the fact the parties weren't able to agree on a term sheet and thus have reverted to the TBO agreement.


Recital C indicates that Enbridge had amended the GTA project to modify the size of the pipeline from NPS 36 to NPS 42; do you see that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Then in recital E, it indicates that the parties have now agreed, or have agreed that the Enbridge pipeline should remain sized at NPS 36; do you see that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Can you tell me on what basis the parties agreed that the pipeline should remain at NPS 36, as to put 42-inch or larger?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sure.  The intent of upsizing the Enbridge pipeline or –- segment A or the Bram West-to-Albion pipeline from NPS 36 to NPS 42 was directly an outcome of the discussions with TransCanada.  And it was a requirement that the cost of the upsizing be paid for by TransCanada.


So both the amendment to the application as a result of the proposed upsizing, as well as sharing of the pipe as a result of the upsizing.


It is our understanding that the cost of the upsizing was ultimately to be borne by -- or to be recovered in TransCanada's tolls and borne through the process of construction in the precedent agreements that TransCanada would have had with its shippers.


As a result of TransCanada's decision to not meet the requirements of -- I believe it's Union and Gaz Métro from the May 2012 open season, there was no longer an ability to pay for the upsizing, and Enbridge did not believe it required a 42-inch pipeline to meet the needs of its customers, and therefore we were unable to maintain the NPS 42 scope.


MR. SMITH:  I take it there is nothing physically -- or you wouldn't have amended your application -- there's nothing physically preventing Enbridge from constructing an NPS 42 pipeline?


MR. FERNANDES:  Nothing that we're aware of.


MR. SMITH:  And if you were -- this is perhaps beyond the obvious, but if you were to construct such a pipeline, the capacity on that pipeline would be greater?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  I take it you would agree with me that one of the benefits of holding an open season is that it gives you an indication of the market demand for transportation along a particular route?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can agree to that.


MR. SMITH:  And if Enbridge had conducted such an open season, it would have the benefit of the market intelligence obtained from that open season to guide it in the size of the pipe?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should reiterate that the intent of the discussions with TransCanada were one of optimizing the scope of the Enbridge project, which is primarily for distribution purposes, and directly as a result of the Board's directive to work together.  And it certainly was presumed that the needs of the marketplace would be met by TransCanada.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that, but of course you appreciate that Union wasn't part of those discussions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  You refer to the pipeline --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I should correct.  I should add that Union was part of the discussions around optimizing the entire infrastructure, and the discussions included the design and the scope of the Parkway West projects and the Parkway D projects, which feed into the Enbridge pipeline, as well as TransCanada's intentions to expand the path.


MR. SMITH:  But not this?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Is it fair to say the first time Union saw the memorandum of understanding was when it was provided in answer to interrogatory?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you mentioned the pipeline being used by Enbridge to meet distribution need, but you describe the pipeline in evidence as a distribution and a transmission line; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  There is no doubt that is it a transmission line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The use of a portion of the line for transmission purposes for third-party shippers puts it into that category.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


Do we have a volunteer to go next?  Dr. Higgin?

QUESTIONS BY DR. HIGGIN:


DR. HIGGIN:  I just have one follow-up question, and this is about the 42 NPS pipeline.


Just confirm what the capacity that was talked about for that pipeline, if it was built, what would be the capacity?


MR. FERNANDES:  In our discussions, the ultimate capacity would be 2,000 tJs a day.  That was originally expected to be 60 percent shared with TransCanada and 40 percent with Enbridge, giving our 800 tJ for the distribution purposes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.  That's my question.


MR. MILLAR:  You have no further questions for this panel?


DR. HIGGIN:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Volunteers?  Mr. Poch?

Questions by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  First of all, just a couple of quick follow-ups on that.


Panel, Mr. Millar asked you at the outset about segment A and segment B and whether they require any of the approvals Union is seeking to proceed, and you indicated that segment B was independent of -- didn't need these other facilities.  I just want to clarify.


Does that -- I take it that it doesn't physically need any of those facilities, but would it be a project that Enbridge would pursue but for the added gas that is intended to be drawn through the Union facilities?


MR. FERNANDES:  So segment B is independent in terms of actually having a requirement or dependency on other facilities in Union's applications or any other project.


However, in order for us to achieve the benefits that we're expecting from the project, it does require an additional supply source into the Enbridge system.


MR. POCH:  So it...


MR. FERNANDES:  It would substantially change the nature of the economics and also the -- particularly around the gas supply savings and the reliability benefits upstream.


MR. POCH:  Can I take it from that, that would mean that there would be some likelihood that Enbridge would not wish to proceed with that at this time, in that scenario?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's not what we're proposing at this time, is the complete project.


MR. POCH:  No, I understand, but if you were advised that Union's facilities weren't being approved such that you would not build segment A, do I take it from what you've just said that you would then at least have to reconsider segment B, and that from what you've just told me it sounds like it would be unlikely you would want to proceed with segment B at this time?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is incorrect.  We would -- the point that was being made is that segment B is required for multiple reasons.  The connection with the Union project is that segment B does need a supply source.  In the event that the Union projects did not proceed, then Enbridge would still need a supply source.  And under the current circumstances, with discretionary supply and so on, it is Enbridge's view we would have to contract for long haul FT in order the feed the pipeline, and that is the scenario in which the savings have been based from a gas supply perspective.


MR. POCH:  But it's possible in that scenario you might take it, for example, through Victoria Square.  You might run a reconfigured segment B, for example?


MR. FERNANDES:  What we're really saying is, under that scenario, I think we would be looking for something like segment B, but there would probably be additional facilities over and above that.  We haven't really defined what those are.


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  As I listened to my friend, I promised I wouldn't get into cross, too, but we'll leave it.  I'll move on.


Forgive me if this is already in the evidence, but you did refer to it earlier.  You're assuming that TCPL will be building facilities between Albion and Maple; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I provided you, through your counsel, yesterday with a copy of my questions in the hope that would speed things along, and I think I interpreted the signal from you folks is I should simply pose them to you now, and hopefully some of them can be dealt with quickly, because you've had notice.  If not, some of them you may want to just -- you may know now you need to give me a written undertaking.  Please volunteer.


So starting at the top, then, these are all in the A1 category.  GEC 3(d), and also there's reference to BOMA's 25(d) and the attachments.  And the purpose of our question was to understand how the various GTA project facilities would contribute to meeting peak-day requirements in the downtown core.


When we looked at those attachments, apparently the segment A facilities appear to have no effect on peak-day flows through Martingrove or West Mall or Downsview stations, and that troubled my experts.  Can you explain that for us?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe I can.  It probably would be more -- depending on how deep you want to go into the explanation, more relevant for our system analysis panel, which is up as part of panel 2.


But for all intents and purposes, those stations that you are referring to are fed by lines that gas flow coming in from segment A doesn't impact, so they have appropriate pressure today.  They will have appropriate pressure after the GTA project, and, therefore, the flow through them does not change.


The primary intent of most of the facilities are to be able to bring gas into the system and feed it around from breaking the east-west bottleneck, and then down the Don Valley line, so most of the volume is actually flowing across that path.  It doesn't change other paths within the system.


MR. POCH:  So that I take it what you are telling me is the stations I listed don't in fact -- at the lower pressure distributions after the stations don't serve what you are calling the downtown core?


MR. FERNANDES:  No, that's not what I'm saying.  What I'm saying is that the GTA project flows gas across the extra high pressure system.  Those existing stations would still flow the same amount of gas from the extra high pressure to the high pressure system both before and after.


MR. POCH:  Let's move on to GEC 5(d) and (e).  We asked you some scenarios there, and your responses basically stopped by saying the scenario is not feasible, so results are not presented.


We weren't asking about feasibility.  So I'm asking if you can answer these questions.  How much would load need to decrease to attain minimum pressures without segment B or the north-south portion of segment B?  Can we get an answer to those?


I appreciate you are saying there's other problems; there's other reasons why you would want to do this.  You don't think you can get the load reduction, for example.


We're trying to pose some hypotheticals and get some answers.


MR. FERNANDES:  So our system analysis folks are going to work on that.  We don't have it.


MR. POCH:  We will get an undertaking.  And you can see there's -- in my written question, there was a sort of follow-up to that, clarifying it.  Can I treat that written question as an undertaking, and I will provide the court reporter with a list of these questions?  In fact, I might want to do that right now to make their life easier.


MR. MILLAR:  This will be JT1.3.  And which question is it, Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  That was GEC 5 -- with respect to GEC 5(d) and (e).


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.1:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO GEC 5(D), TO INDICATE HOW MUCH LOAD WOULD NEED TO DECREASE TO ATTAIN MINIMUM PRESSURE WITHOUT SEGMENT B OR THE NORTH-SOUTH PORTION OF SEGMENT B; AND GEC 5(E):  TO RESPOND TO THE QUESTION UNDER A SCENARIO IN WHICH THE DON VALLEY LINE OPERATING PRESSURE IS NOT REDUCED FROM 450PSI TO 375PSI, SPECIFICALLY, IF SEGMENT A AND THE EAST-WEST PORTION OF SEGMENT B ARE CONSTRUCTED BUT THE NORTH-SOUTH PORTION OF SEGMENT B IS NOT CONSTRUCTED, WILL THE PEAK DAY PRESSURE AT STATION B FALL BELOW THE MINIMUM NUMBER UNDER 2015-16 DESIGN CONDITIONS


MR. POCH:  Moving to GEC 7(d), in particular, this is all with respect to the Portlands Energy Centre.  Are you aware that PEC operates its own on-site gas compressors?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, we are.


MR. POCH:  Is it correct that EGD system and design planning is based on the PEC contract parameters described in EB-2006-0305, not the actual operating experience?


MR. FERNANDES:  My understanding, our system analysis is done to meet the contract demand.


MR. POCH:  That's a yes, I take it?


So given that these peak hourly quantities and minimum pressures, and so on, were based on these engineering estimates developed before the plant was constructed, now that it's had a few years of operating history, have you discussed with PEC the possibility of modifying its contract to reduce the maximum hourly quantity and/or lower the minimum delivery pressure during peak winter period, either on a firm basis or an interruptible basis.


MR. FERNANDES:  No, we have not.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Turning to question 8, in particular, question 8(f), we asked you about whether you had evaluated -- whether additional load reductions from DSM would allow reductions in operating pressure on the NPS 26 and NPS 30 Don Valley pipelines, and your answer was simply that you don't think it's feasible.


Can you provide us the analysis or the rationale for that conclusion?


MR. FERNANDES:  We can provide the rationale.  When we looked at the capacity reduction within the system due solely to lowering the Don Valley line, as we're proposing, that was approximately 165 tJs a day.  Now, our growth forecast annually is on the order of 18 or 19.  I would have to double check the number.  It's a much smaller increment.  As a matter of fact, it is an order of magnitude lower.  Our estimation of efficiency gains in those types of activities would be smaller than that.


So once that there is that large of a decrement in terms of looking at it, we chose to go no further.


MR. POCH:  So you didn't actually conduct an analysis of possible load reductions beyond even offsetting load growth?  You concluded that it was simply -- the scale of it suggested to you it was not feasible?


MR. FERNANDES:  The question referred to the pressure reduction, and given that it's well beyond an order of magnitude away from what we thought was reasonable, we conducted no further study on that.


MR. POCH:  I took it from your answer a minute ago that what you thought was reasonable was, at most, offsetting load growth; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  No, what I stated was that our load growth was almost an order of magnitude lower and we felt efficiency gains would account for some fraction of that.


MR. POCH:  Did you study that specifically?  Is there a study specifically looking at intensive load reduction DSM and related efforts in the particular target area?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think I'll have to defer that to my counterpart on the DSM panel.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Just on that, I am correct that these pipes have been running at the higher pressure -– I think it's 37 percent as opposed to 30 percent -- that you are now proposing?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  The pipes were constructed in 1967 and 1971, and they have operated over 30 percent since that time.


MR. POCH:  Right.  That, I believe, is in the record.  Do we know at what -- in fact, what percent pressure they have been running?  Has it been consistent throughout at the 37, or has it fluctuated?


MR. THALASSINOS:  So I'll refer to Interrogatory Response -– and just give me a sec here to find that.


So BOMA Interrogatory No. 8.  Okay.  So, sorry, which line were you specifically referring to?


MR. POCH:  Well, in this case, we were talking about the Don Valley pipelines, NPS 26 and 30.


I was referring to the fact that you've indicated that, while you're targeting the 30 percent SMYS, they're currently at 37 percent and they have been over 30 percent throughout their life.  I was just asking if they have been at 37 percent throughout their life, or has it changed over time.


MR. THALASSINOS:  The percent of SMYS on that line has changed over time.  I actually have to refer to a different interrogatory; I think I've referenced the wrong one.  Just give me a moment, please.


Yes, so the Don Valley pipeline has been operating at different pressures over the years.  The operating pressures can change over time, which is different than the maximum operating pressure.  Those operating pressures can change due to things such as movement of gas, moving of gas supplies from one part of the network to another.  And we also periodically change our operating pressures when we're running internal inspection pigs, when we're doing major work, and also sometimes when we have temporary restrictions when we find integrity issues on our pipelines.


MR. POCH:  Obviously at times, you lower the pressure because you are doing work or you have concerns.  Have they ever run at higher than 37 percent?


MR. THALASSINOS:  For this particular line, my understanding, it's been operating only up to 37 percent.


MR. POCH:  And the other lines that you're trying to lower the pressure on in this application?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Just in --


MR. POCH:  Perhaps there's an interrogatory that spells this out I've missed.  Please direct me it to if there is.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Hold on.  So I'll refer to GEC Interrogatory 8(e).


MR. POCH:  Yes, I have that in front of me.


MR. THALASSINOS:  So the pressures on the –- as you see here, the pressure on the NPS 26 was lowered in 2005 due to the class location, and -- from a class 3 to a class 4.  That, of course –- and you can see the percent of SMYS reduction that was caused by that.


MR. POCH:  That's the 49.6 going to 39.8?


MR. THALASSINOS:  That's correct, yes.


So when we did a class location study in 2005, we identified we were in a class 4, and we reduced that pressure in that particular line.


MR. POCH:  And the rest are in the exhibit, as referenced in that paragraph?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.


MR. THALASSINOS:  I do want to point out that, directionally, we are looking to be operating our -- the lines to below 30 percent of SMYS, because from a safety perspective we feel that the consequences of a failure on these lines, if they were operating below 30 percent of SMYS -- which would be enabled by the GTA project, the 26- and 30-inch line -- would be less because they would be below a threshold value, which is a threshold value being 30 percent of SMYS, and that's the generally understood threshold value at which failures are considered both by code and by, more recently, the TSSA code adoption document as where the failure is more likely to result in a leak versus a rupture.


MR. POCH:  So it's a gentler mishap?


MR. THALASSINOS:  I wouldn't call it a "gentler mishap."  There can be quite a big difference between a leak and a rupture.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.  Let's move on.


GEC 11, here we asked you about constraints that you had mentioned, and in response you referred us to an Environmental Defence interrogatory there, 36 -- and I think it's probably what you want to have in front of you -- which unfortunately wasn't quite what we needed.


So first of all, starting with the Environmental Defence response, 36(a)(ii), can you just give us a little more detail on what the current constraints are from Parkway-to-Maple, your understanding of them?


First of all, I should clarify.  I think there's two pipelines from Parkway-to-Maple?


MR. FERNANDES:  From Parkway-to-Maple is actually part of TransCanada's system.  My understanding is that it's partially twinned.  They have been doing work as recently as 2012.


MR. POCH:  I was just looking at your schematic, your maps or your drawings at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment -- figure 1.


The TCPL line there is shown and labelled in black; they're either TCPL or TCPL and Union.  And then there's a red line that parallels that, I gather maybe just sort of getting to Maple; is that correct?  Am I reading that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  The red line is Enbridge's, or not?


MR. FERNANDES:  That is part of the Enbridge system.


MR. POCH:  So there are two pipes going up, but not quite all the way up to Maple?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  If you can, could you just elaborate on what the constraints are there?  Is it simply they're at capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is no incremental capacity to be had between Parkway and Maple on the TransCanada system at this point in time.


MR. POCH:  What about on the Enbridge pipe there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The Enbridge pipeline is not a transmission pipeline; it's integrated into our distribution network.


MR. POCH:  And that's the NPS -- is that a 24 or 26?


MR. FERNANDES:  24.


MR. POCH:  24?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  And I'm no engineer, gas engineer, but I take it the distinction there, other than the fact that you are not shipping to others, is it's run at a lower pressure, is it, than if it was run as a transmission pipeline?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  That's one thing that is true.  That line was, to my understanding, built in the 1950s and it's running at a much lower pressure.


MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, I may have just asked this and missed the answer.  Is there capacity on that line to push more gas towards its end?


MR. FERNANDES:  It's utilized as part of our distribution network, and there would be -- to try and utilize that line to bring gas into the transmission system would require quite a bit of compression.


MR. POCH:  No, I'm not suggesting you re-inject it into a compression, into a -- necessarily into a transmission system at the end.


MR. FERNANDES:  So that line is utilized and feeds most of Brampton.


MR. POCH:  I understand, and I'm just wondering, as a distribution line, is it at capacity?


MR. FERNANDES:  I would have to check with our system analysis.  I apologize.  I don't know that for a fact.


MR. POCH:  I'm just wondering if there has been a scenario that was looked at to utilize that line more fully to move gas from the east to the west -- from the west to the east.  Can I get an undertaking, then, that you'll -- why don't we word it this way, for information on the NPS 24 line from --


MR. FERNANDES:  The terminus of that line on the eastern edge is not near any infrastructure that we could tie into reasonably.


MR. POCH:  Right.  I guess what I was asking is if there was any investigation into whether extending that pipeline -- well, for example, given TCPL is thinking of building from Albion to Maple, it may be possible, I'm wondering, to configure things differently and utilize that line.


Has there been any study of utilizing that line more fully as a means of moving -- as part of an approach, to moving gas from the west to east side of the city?


MR. THALASSINOS:  So the 24-inch line is currently operating just below the 30 percent SMYS threshold.  So that is a threshold we wouldn't raise, if that is the nature of your question, in terms of capacity.  So it's already at its highest pressure that we would operate at, and we would not go from a lower than 30 percent SMYS situation to above 30 percent of SMYS.


MR. POCH:  That's a complete answer, as far as you're concerned, to my question, I take it?


MR. THALASSINOS:  If that was -- correct, if that was what your question was intended --


MR. POCH:  I think what you just said is that is your rationale for not considering utilizing that pipe at a higher capacity?


MR. THALASSINOS:  That's correct.  We would not consider raising that operating pressure and increasing risk.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Just to be clear, though, for that line to be utilized in any way to expand capacity on the Parkway-to-Maple path, it either has to operate at transmission pressures so it can tie into the TransCanada system, or it has to find its way into another part of the distribution system that could take it east, and I think Mr. Fernandes just mentioned that it's nowhere near any other infrastructure.  So there is possibility of using that line differently than it's being used today.


MR. POCH:  So if you go ahead and build the segment A and the facilities at Parkway West, and so on, and TCPL goes ahead and does as you expect, which is to connect Albion up to Maple, first, does that alleviate the Parkway-to-Maple constraint, the combination of those two things?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It has the potential to eliminate the Parkway-to-Maple constraint.  It really is a function of how much demand there is for additional capacity.


MR. POCH:  If there is no demand, there is no constraint, I take it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And its ability to eliminate the constraint is a function of how much incremental demand there is.


MR. POCH:  If you went that far and didn't build segment B, I want to know about the possibilities of then moving gas along segment A up to Maple with TCPL's proposed facilities, and then along to Victoria Square.  Is that a possibility?  I appreciate you still have concerns about the northern part of the NPS 30 Don Valley line, but I'm just going a step at a time here.


MR. FERNANDES:  I certainly would be something that could be possible.  However, it would not meet all of the objectives we're trying to achieve in the project.


MR. POCH:  What objectives would it not meet?


MR. FERNANDES:  So one of the objectives in the project was to eliminate the east-west bottleneck within our own distribution system.


MR. POCH:  I see.  This would alleviate east-west constraints, but would require reliance on TCPL transmission?  That was the distinction you are drawing?


MR. FERNANDES:  So it would alleviate access to short haul.  However, it would not allow us all of the flexibility and capabilities for load balancing between our major supply points.


MR. POCH:  Okay.


MR. FERNANDES:  Nor would it allow us to lower pressure in some of our older critical supply lines.  It also would not deal with our point of minimum system pressure.


MR. POCH:  That's because of concern that the Don Valley line is at its limit?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  Did you cost this approach, and including whatever improvements to the Don Valley line would be needed?


Let me put it this way.  Obviously, the costs would involve the costs of segment A and the Parkway West facilities.  Did you investigate what the tolling situation would be to move gas from Albion to Victoria Square on the TPCL system?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We did not.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  If you move on to GEC 15, we asked for the documentation on the review of the distribution system, which you had referred to in the evidence.  And you provide a cross-reference to the evidence, and then to an interrogatory from Environmental Defence, their number 24.


In both instances what we see there is simply a map with a box drawn on it.  We assume there's something more that was done in terms of analysis and documentation to define the GTA project influence area, and, therefore, the loads being served by the particular facilities.  Can you help us with that?


MR. FERNANDES:  That would probably be best, depending on the level of detail required, to speak with our system analysis on the next panel.


MR. POCH:  That's the A2?


MR. FERNANDES:  Two.


MR. POCH:  A2.


MR. FERNANDES:  Now, as part of our network modelling -- and it is shown in the evidence, as well.  I believe it's figure 2 in A3.2.  The model does have an influence area served by each of the gate stations, and effectively the map is another way to describe which portion of the system is fed by the gate stations that are actually influenced by infrastructure we're proposing.


So it's physical outcome of where the gas flows from the supply points and the extra high pressure network.  For all intents and purposes, it excludes Markham Gate Station influence area.


MR. CASS:  Just for clarity, Mr. Fernandes referred to panel A2.  It's panel 2 dealing with issues A4 and A5, just so that is clear.


MR. POCH:  My apologies.  I guess my question was:  To what extent is this influence area defined simply by physical -- the network ends, and so you can draw nice -- you know, a fence around things, and to what extent is the network the integrated network.  Does it extend across these boundaries and you've had to exercise some judgment as to when you call it the GTA influence area and when you say it is predominantly fed from some other gate station?


I'm assuming in a certain situation -- in a number of places, it's the later situation; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  So in terms of looking at the maps that are predominantly shown throughout the evidence showing the extra high pressure grid, it does not show the lower pressure networks that are underneath, and we are primarily referring to cold winter conditions.


And when -- if we can pull up Exhibit A3.2, figure --


MR. POCH:  Do I need to pull that up?


MR. FERNANDES:  We do have that in the evidence, but you are correct.  It refers to the influence area under winter conditions.  There is connectivity below, and under much lower loads on the system, there is some capability to move gas to those areas.


MR. POCH:  I understand.  I guess I assumed there were some judgments made, and maybe I'm venturing off into the next panel - tell me if I am - some judgments made about how to model this for the purpose of this application, how to define things.


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct, that's for the next panel.


MR. POCH:  Okay, we'll come back to that.


Here's an easy one for you, and it may in fact be for the next one.  No, it's this panel, GEC 16.


In (g), you provide a table, and just breaking out your customers, and we just wanted to get a definition of what the distinction there between replacement and -- what does "residential ensuite" mean?


MS. SUAREZ:  Certainly.  For replacement customers, we are referring to conversions of non-gas customers on main.  And for ensuite, we mean multi-residential dwellings with ensuite metering.


MR. POCH:  Or with individual metering, as we sometimes call it?


MS. SUAREZ:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Just on that conversion to gas, so that's just new customers that are converting from another fuel but it's not new construction; is that the distinction you're making?


MS. SUAREZ:  That's correct, yes.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  In 18(e), we ask just specifically in your -- in your looking at the impact of customer additions, how you dealt, modelled the increasingly stringent building codes, and I would assume that's particularly in the new construction and renovation situations.


And you did refer us to responses that -- I've seen responses that refer to the fact that you sort of have a declining average use trend that you've seen.


MS. SUAREZ:  That's correct, for residential customers.


MR. POCH:  Did you look specifically at the acceleration of that due to expected building code stringencies?


MS. SUAREZ:  When you mean -- building code for which particular type of sector?


MR. POCH:  Well, for any sector, but certainly in the new construction and renovation marketplaces.


MS. SUAREZ:  Yes, I believe we captured that as a W variable in our models when we looked at average use consumption over time.


MR. POCH:  Could you provide us with some detail on how did you that and what was assumed?  I'm sure that would be an undertaking, I imagine.


MS. SUAREZ:  Yes, I would rather take an undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL ON HOW DECLINING AVERAGE USE TREND RELATES TO EXPECTED BUILDING CODE STRINGENCIES AND WHAT ASSUMPTIONS WERE USED IN THE MODELS.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  
GEC 29, you referred to earlier studies when you identified part of the project in 2002 and that was installed, and work done in 2006, as well, you've referred to.  We asked –- we'd like to know how the peak day requirements forecasts done then compare with the peak day requirement forecasts in your more recent work for this application.


Is it possible to get a comparison of them?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think that's for the second panel, as well.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  In 39, we asked you for some information about capital costs, and you did provide a table with escalated and non-escalated.


Can we just get the details of that calculation, how it was calculated and what the assumed inflation rate was?


MR. FERNANDES:  We can certainly provide that.  It would be for another panel that has the details.  I believe it's panel 3.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  We'll come back to that, then.


I think that's all my questions for this panel.  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

Questions by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  I'll hop in.  I'll be relatively short, panel.  My questions are almost entirely focused on the MOU that Mr. Smith has already taken you through, and there have been a number of questions on it.  I have some follow-up questions.


If I can have you turn to CME 6, attachment 3, page 22 of 27, this is the schedule B, which is election number 2 of the MOU.


First of all, panel, as I understand it, this is the election which TPCL has currently identified it is exercising; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Microphone, please.


MR. DeROSE:  And so I just want to take you through a few of the provisions in this election, just to ensure that we understand it correctly.


First of all, number 1, where TPCL has an option which is exercisable until November 1st, 2014 to -- and depending on the size of the pipe, purchase a certain percentage of the Enbridge pipeline, when you were referring earlier in the cross-examination of Mr. Smith to the inability to conclude a term sheet, is -- the term sheet referred to in number 1, is that what you were referring to, or is that a different term sheet?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Given that the words are capitalized and presuming it is the same term sheet, there's a definition, I believe.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps I can cut to the chase this way.  Does TPCL still have that option that can be exercised between now and November the 1st, 2014, or is that no longer available because you have not come -- because you've not agreed on a term sheet?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So if I could just explain, the option we are talking about is the option to take capacity on the Enbridge pipeline.


The term sheet is specifically referring to the terms and conditions under which that capacity would be taken, and that was contemplated as joint ownership.


Enbridge and TPCL were unable to come to terms on the term sheet.  Therefore, the terms and conditions under which the capacity will be taken would be subject to schedule D, which is now a TBO arrangement.


MR. DeROSE:  So I don't -- I'm sorry if my question has been confusing.


Does TransCanada still have an option which it can exercise between now and November the 1st, 2014?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and the option it can exercise is one where it takes capacity on the Enbridge pipeline.


MR. DeROSE:  But it no longer has the option to contribute 50 percent of the Enbridge pipeline costs, thereby -- well, does it still have that option?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  So the -- given that we have already agreed that it will be NPS 36-inch pipeline, the percentages we are talking about are 50/50.  So in conjunction with exercising the option by November 1, 2014 to take 50 percent of the capacity of the pipeline, they will also be responsible for 50 percent of the revenue requirement associated with the pipeline.


MR. DeROSE:  And what happens if they do not exercise that option?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If they do not exercise the option, the pipeline is available for Enbridge's sole use; the entire capacity on the pipeline is available to Enbridge.


MR. DeROSE:  At which point you could offer it to any third parties?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Clause 15 of Schedule B states that:

"The Enbridge pipeline will only be used to serve Enbridge's distribution franchise, including direct-purchase customers, and will not be used for the transportation of gas for any other persons."


MR. DeROSE:  So is there a scenario whereby --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Unless -- sorry, go ahead.


MR. DeROSE:  Is there a scenario whereby TransCanada does not contribute 50 percent, they do not elect the option, but you still cannot use the excess capacity for any non-TPCL parties?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe that the MOU allows for that under the election that's been made.


MR. DeROSE:  Then if I can turn you to page 23 of 27, number 7 says that:

"TransCanada will construct, own, operate and maintain the TransCanada Maple line."


Throughout the evidence, there's a reference in the MOU to the TransCanada Maple pipeline.  In some of the IR responses there's a Parkway-to-Maple expansion.


First of all, are we talking about the same thing?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  This Maple pipeline is referring to a pipeline from Albion to Maple.


MR. DeROSE:  So it's not -- when you talked to Board Staff this morning about no dependency between the Parkway-to-Maple expansion on the GTA project, that's referring to a broader expansion than the TransCanada Maple pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  Excuse me.  Sorry, could you just repeat that?


MR. DeROSE:  When you referred to Board Staff No. 7 this morning --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  -- Board Staff 7 reads as follows:

"The GTA project is not dependent on TransCanada expanding facilities from Parkway-to-Maple."


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  My question was:  In the MOU, you refer to the TransCanada Maple pipeline.  Is that something different?  The TransCanada Maple pipeline, is that different than the Parkway-to-Maple expansion that you were referring to with Board Staff this morning in Board Staff No. 7?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So the GTA project is not dependent on either, whether it's an expansion on TransCanada's existing Parkway-to-Maple system or whether TransCanada does in fact build facilities downstream of Albion to Maple.


MR. DeROSE:  If it wasn't in any way dependent on it, why is it in the MOU?  Why would Enbridge care?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The MOU contemplates, as is explained in section 2.1, the coordinated use and planning of facilities.  So the intent of the MOU certainly was to enable TransCanada to utilize capacity on segment A in order to serve the needs of its shippers, and to the extent that we were considering a 42-inch, NPS 42-inch pipeline, the scope of the GTA project was at that point dependent on TransCanada building the pipeline from Albion onto Maple.


In its current scope, the project is economic whether TransCanada participates or not.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can take you to section 13, again, this is page 23 of 27.  Section 13 reads:

"Enbridge agrees that the Parkway Enbridge CDA service contract will not displace any existing TransCanada system firm transportation service contracts currently serving the Enbridge CDA."


I just want to understand how that operates.  First of all, how many TransCanada system firm transportation service contracts are currently serving Enbridge CDA; do you know?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe we have an interrogatory response that lays out all of our transportation contracts, but I couldn't tell you how many at this point.  Could I maybe do that at the break or something?


MR. DeROSE:  Sure, even a ballpark.  I'm sorry if I missed that.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Are you asking me what is the amount, or the number of contracts?


MR. DeROSE:  I was actually going to ask for both.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Why don't I take some time to --


MR. DeROSE:  That's fair.  Let me perhaps ask a few other additional questions.  Well, could we have an undertaking for --


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF TRANSCANADA SYSTEM FIRM TRANSPORTATION SERVICE CONTRACTS CURRENTLY SERVING ENBRIDGE CDA.


MR. DeROSE:  If it's already in an IR response, if you just give us the IR response number, that would be fine.


Are some of the TransCanada system firm transportation service contract that are serving the Enbridge CDA -- are they all owned by Enbridge or are there other parties which own or have signed up for such contracts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  You are asking me if there are other parties that have contracts to the Enbridge CDA other than Enbridge?


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Is it quite possible from time to time that marketers serving customers take FT contracts.  I'm aware of only one party at this point, other than Enbridge, that holds capacity to the Enbridge CDA.


MR. DeROSE:  Under the MOU, is it your understanding that Enbridge's -- you are not trying to bind any other parties in the CDA; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  You are only saying that the Parkway Enbridge CDA service contract will not displace any of the existing -- any of Enbridge's existing FT contracts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  If I could just explain the intent of that?  So we've made it very clear that the gas supply aspect of the GTA project is about reducing our reliance discretionary supply.  So discretionary supply is not underpinned by firm transportation contracts.  The intent is to increase the reliability of our contracts -- of our gas supply portfolio.


Therefore, what clause 13 says is that the Enbridge CDA service contract will not displace any existing firm transportation contracts; that is, it is intended to displace discretionary volumes.


MR. DeROSE:  The term "displace", does that mean that you have an obligation to renew your existing FT contracts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe -- I believe it says that --


MR. DeROSE:  Because if you don't renew, then you are displacing; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have to just go back.  I don't believe it binds us for all time.  The intent is that it will not displace contracts currently serving the Enbridge CDA.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps if you could give us some sort of an explanation on that, because when I read the term -- it doesn't say you won't terminate your existing contracts.  It says you won't displace them.


To me, that could be interpreted to mean that in perpetuity you agree that you will maintain the same FT contract level that you currently have.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The FT contracts to the Enbridge CDA are almost all short haul contracts.  We do not believe we can get rid of those short haul contracts in order to serve the franchise.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, when you say you don't believe you can, that you are legally obligated to renew them or that for your gas supply --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Physically, our franchise is connected off the TransCanada system through several gate stations.


MR. DeROSE:  What I'm interested in is the meaning of the MOU in that clause, and what I am -- and perhaps by way of an undertaking, what I would like to know is what Enbridge's position is on clause 13 and whether your inability or your agreement not to displace the current FT service contracts, whether that means that you have a positive obligation to renew those FT service contracts and maintain that same level of FT service contracts from now until, I guess, in perpetuity or beyond the current term of the contracts.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, we do not, because in is not a surviving obligation under the MOU.  So the MOU is intended to terminate once we have definitive agreements with TransCanada.  And, therefore, given that clause 13 is not a surviving obligation under the MOU, it does not bind us in the future.


MR. DeROSE:  Then on 15, section 15 of the MOU, which talks about that the Enbridge pipeline will be used to serve EGD's distribution franchise unless TransCanada exercises election option number 2, then the Enbridge pipeline may also be used to serve TransCanada.


My last question relates to the possibility of transactional services, or TS services.  If Enbridge has TS opportunities to third parties other than TransCanada pipeline, which may include transportation outside of Enbridge's -- using it to move outside of your distribution system, is it Enbridge's position that clause 15 precludes that, that you are not permitted to undertake TS services with any parties other than TransCanada?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It does not preclude that.


MR. DeROSE:  Why would that be?  Do you not consider that TS services are serving a third party?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The receipt point for Enbridge's capacity is the Bram West interconnect with TransCanada.  Therefore, it does not limit Enbridge in any way from conducting TS activities based on temporarily surplus capacity that Enbridge has.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions on those MOUs.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Kent, would you like to go next?  Could I get a time -- how long will you be, Kent?


MR. ELSON:  Five minutes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it okay if he goes first, Duane, or do you only have five --


MR. QUINN:  No, no, I can go – that's fine.  I heard the word "break" before; were you contemplating a break, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  We'll have to take a short break sometime.  We only have the afternoon today, so we will take a short break at some point.  How long will you be, Duane?


MR. QUINN:  I'll do a better job of this after, but based on the responses to Mr. Poch, a lot of my questions may actually be panel 2 questions.


And taking a lead from Mr. Poch, I could potentially put some of these questions in writing tonight, to enable the panel to cipher through them and figure out what they can answer tomorrow and what they want to answer in their undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we'll let you have the break to decide that, but we'll do Mr. Elson now.


MR. QUINN:  Yeah.  Thanks.

Questions by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  I just have one quick question, further to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 33, and this question is in relation to the four purposes of the project.


And if you could refer to Interrogatory No. 33, we've excerpted those four purposes, and that comes from Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2.


Specifically, the question is in relation to the second purpose, which is "reducing operational risks and enhancing safety and reliability."  Do you see that there?  That's point (b), and actually the question -- that's on that page, page 1 of the interrogatory.


In the answer to the next interrogatory, Enbridge acknowledged that the project isn't necessary in order to meet minimum standards with respect to operational risks, safety and reliability.


So my specific question is why this project is strictly necessary.  And I understand it might have some benefits; my question isn't whether there would be benefits, but why it would be strictly necessary from the perspective of operational risks, safety and reliability, as outlined in part (b) here.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Okay.  So this project is absolutely necessary from a safety and reliability perspective.  From a reliability perspective, as most recently as last week, we had some flooding on the Don Valley, on the Don River, which exposed a 50-metre section of our NPS 30 pipe, and we immediately downgraded that pressure down to 300 pounds to ensure that we're in a safe situation while we're assessing the level of risk.


If that situation had occurred today or even this past winter, let alone 2015, we would be in a situation of losing tens of thousands of customers today.  So the issue of reliability is not a theoretical construct.


As recently as last week, in the evidence we've seen that we lowered the pressures on the Collingwood and Cornwall lines to 80 percent of their design pressures through the winter.  And we regularly run internal inspection tools, which often, or sometimes, find issues that we need to take immediate action on to assess their safety and their risk.  And sometimes those assessments extend for lengthy periods of time that can extend through the winter.


So I'm not sure how many close calls we need before, from a reliability perspective, we need to have more than a single feed on the NPS 30 now supplying that section of our network.


MR. ELSON:  So what you're talking about is the pressure just feeding the downtown core?  That's the risk that you need to mitigate?


MR. THALASSINOS:  The minimum system pressures are -- as stated in the evidence, are at station B, so that is the critical system pressure.


MR. ELSON:  So what you are talking about is reliability with respect to -- or that is resolved by segment B?  That is what you are talking about right now?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  I'm just trying to figure out why it's necessary, particularly seeing as what you are talking about is risks that are apparently currently facing the project.  What is different in 2015 or what is different in the future from what we have now that makes this project strictly necessary, seeing as right now we're meeting current minimum standards?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Again, I think the way we design a system is not by meeting minimum system standards.  We need to use -- considering safety and reliability using prudent engineering judgment.


We've had a number of close calls, and it would be imprudent to ignore what we've faced in the past few years and not do something about it.


MR. ELSON:  What is the nature of the risk, the nature of the close calls that you're talking about?  I don't understand.


MR. THALASSINOS:  The nature of the close calls is that for -- if we find issues on our pipelines, especially ones where we have only a single feed, and that we need to lower the operating pressure from a safety perspective, that will result or can result in the loss of tens of thousands of customers, of gas service to tens of thousands of customers.  And I think in the evidence we've given examples of what is the nature of that effect and how long it can take -- weeks or months in some cases -- to resolve those situations.


MR. ELSON:  So this resolves that by, in some areas, having twinned lines; is that correct?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.  For areas that -- where we have twinned lines, especially for this type of line -- and we think about the NPS 30 and NPS 26, these are lines that were installed in the late Sixties and early Seventies.  They were installed to different operating standards than we have today, and with different codings.  And so if we look at this particular line and if we have to also operate it above 30 percent of SMYS, the consequences of any failure are greater; and again, if we go to -- both by code and by the TSSA adoption document, the generally accepted threshold at which pipes will rupture versus leak is greater than 30 percent of SMYS.


By putting this line in place, the GTA project in place, it will allow us to drop the pressures on the 26- and 30-inch line to below 30 percent SMYS, therefore reduce the likelihood of a rupture, which will increase the safety of our system.


MR. ELSON:  How long has it been operating at above 30 percent SMYS?


MR. THALASSINOS:  I don't have all those numbers in front of me right now, but it has been operating for greater than 30 percent for a number of years.  The -- generally what we're looking to do is to -- directionally is to drop our operating pressures to below 30 percent of

–- for our older pipelines.


These two lines, the 26- and 30-inch lines, are the oldest lines that are op -- of the large lines in the City of Toronto that are operating in an urban –- in an even more -- a city that's getting even more dense, and so we're looking to reduce our risk as to -- and reduce the risk of a rupture.


MR. ELSON:  Could I have an undertaking as to how long these lines have been operating at above 30 percent SMYS?


MR. THALASSINOS:  So if the question is for how long they have been operating over 30 percent of SMYS, then the 26 and 30 have been operating for greater than 30 percent SMYS from -- for their -- since they were installed, if that was your question.  I wasn't sure if your question was you wanted to know what all the changes in operating pressures were over those years.


MR. ELSON:  Since they were installed?  I think that's the answer.


I guess my follow-up question in relation to twinning of lines, is your position that you need to have two gas lines serving every area in case one of them fails?


MR. THALASSINOS:  No, that wouldn't be our position.  I think the thing to consider is for your major backbone of the systems, so you have look at what the impact would be.


So for example, you wouldn't necessarily be twinning every line if your affecting 10 customers; if you're affecting 10,000 or 100,000 customers, that definitely is a consideration, to be prudent in terms of our design, to ensure the safety and reliability of our customers.


MR. ELSON:  It seems that what you are saying is you need to have a redundant extra line once you reach a certain capacity.  When do you need to have a twinned line?


MR. THALASSINOS:  So just a point of clarification.  We're talking about, first of all, ensuring we have dual feeds, not necessarily twinning of lines.  So being able to loop the system and be able to have multiple sources is not only done by having -- is not only done by having twinned lines; it's also done by having multiple feeds.


Specifically the question of when is it -- is there a particular number at which we make this decision of when to have dual feeds, no, there isn't an explicit number that tells us we need to have dual feeds, but in this particular case it's a bit obvious when you are affecting tens and potentially hundreds of thousands of customers.


MR. ELSON:  Why wouldn't you need dual feeds, for example, south of Jonesville station down at station B where the downtown core is?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think what you're alluding to is talking specifically about segment B being associated with the dual feed.  It's not the only reason why we're proposing segment B, and it's not just within our distribution system.


As the evidence states, we're looking at the entire supply chain.  So segment B serves multiple purposes.  The east-west portion is required for us to be able to potentially swing between our two major suppliers, Union Gas from the west and also potentially bringing in gas at Victoria Square, our largest gate station with TransCanada.


So that would be allowing us to potentially alleviate an upstream supply chain issue by swinging from one to the other and ensuring security of supply for the eastern portion of our system and the western portion of our system under that scenario.


In addition, that does provide operational flexibility to allow us to balance flows on our system, again balancing between the two major suppliers.


So it's not just about simply twinning the Don Valley line.


MR. ELSON:  My question was following up on this idea of close calls and what actual risk this is mitigating.  I'm talking separate from the risk posed from the reliance, the 50 percent reliance, at Parkway Gate Station, the example that was brought up earlier in the Don Valley.


And with respect to these close calls, I don't understand what criteria you are using to say this risk too high.  I don't understand why you would need to have twinned lines down the DVP, but those lines wouldn't need to be twinned from Jonesville station down to station B.  Why in some cases is it necessary to have that redundancy and other cases not?  What's the risk criteria?


MR. FERNANDES:  I can explain that.  So one of the things that segment B does, along with the associated facilities being the Buttonville and Jonesville regulation facilities, it provides a second feed into the Don Valley line.


So today, the Don Valley line, as stated, operates over 30 percent SMYS in terms of its operating pressure.  If we have an indication or damage or any type of event that poses some deal of risk, what Mr. Thalassinos was stating is our first order of operation would be to ensure the safety of the public.  And that would require us to reduce the pressure in that line and operate at an additional margin of safety because of the unknown nature of any particular defect or event.


So the line would have to be reduced below 30 percent SMYS, and it has nothing to do with twinning the line.  Segment B provides additional sources along the line so it can continue to serve firm demand while being below 30 percent SMYS.


Does that answer your question?


MR. ELSON:  I'm not sure it does, but I don't have any further questions.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Just a point of clarification.  By doing the GTA project, it reduces the operating pressure for the entire length line all the way down to station B, even for the sections that aren't having dual feeds.


So it is reducing the safety risk in all sections of that line.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Does anyone have 5 minutes or less before a break, or shall we take a break?  Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Can I just follow up on the question, and that will take just 5 minutes?  One of the things I didn't understand and the gentleman -- we're all getting to the same point.  You made the statement that one of the reasons this pipeline was to be built was to reduce the risk, and then you talked about the Don Valley flooding.


The Don Valley flooding, though, happened between the Jonesville and station B, didn't it?  It happened in that later part of the system; isn't that correct?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  Isn't the net effect of this pipeline actually to increase that risk by alleviating the pressures that you say you were finding - not the pipeline pressure, but the demand pressure you're finding - in the inner core of Toronto, and one of the ways to relieve that is to build greater capacity down to Don Valley?


This pipeline in fact will increase the reliance for serving the downtown core on that Jonesville to station B; would it not?


MR. FERNANDES:  Actually, no.  The point I'm trying to articulate, and forgive me if I'm not doing it appropriately, is today the Don Valley line essentially has a sole source at Victoria Square, and there's 30-some-odd kilometres of pipeline, with various stations along the way, getting down to station B.


So in order for it to operate and serve the minimum system pressure at station B, the pressure at Victoria Square has to be a certain amount.  Once you put segment B in with the Buttonville and Jonesville stations, that line no longer has a sole source.  It can be fed higher pressure gas from segment B at various points along the line.  So, therefore, it can continue to meet the same level of demand at station B and at all points along it, while operating at a lower pressure.


So it has to do with reducing the distance from the source to the minimum point of system pressure.  Jonesville is a lot closer than Victoria Square, so the line can operate at 375 while still meet the requirements of station B.


MR. GARNER:  I think I understand that.  I'm still not sure it answers my question.  The purpose of the project is, in part, am I correct, to use the Don Valley system - call it the Don Valley system in a whole - to relieve demands that are happening -- greater demands that are happening in the downtown part of Toronto.  I thought that was part of the rationale for building this system; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Part of the rationale is to meet system load growth that's occurring throughout the GTA, and as that load growth isn't seen on the system, it lowers the pressures throughout the system.  Station B happens to be the point of minimum system pressure, so it's the one that would fall below minimum requirements first.


MR. GARNER:  But that load growth we're talking about, as I recall when you gave your first presentation, had to do quite a bit with the number of residential units being built in the downtown core of Toronto; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Is it correct that it has to do with the downtown core, but it's associated with all the growth within the area.  As you go down the influence area for the Don Valley line, any gas that's taking off the line will have an impact at station B.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  One of the options you looked at was actually to come down in the southern end, either on Lakeshore or under the lake, because you want it to serve or you need it to relieve these demands you are having in the downtown core.  You rejected those, I understand, but they were looked at because you wanted to serve downtown; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  We were trying to get more gas down to the point of minimum system pressure to relieve that constraint on the system.


MR. GARNER:  So I go back to my original question.  I'm not talking about pipeline pressure, reducing pressure that reduces risk.  My question to you was:  Wasn't building this pipeline going to cause a greater reliance by Enbridge on the Jonesville station B section of that system to serve downtown in lieu of, for instance, building to Lakeshore, which would have given an alternative path to the downtown area?


MR. FERNANDES:  Building segment B, along with the Jonesville facility, allows us to feed additional pressure or act as a source to the Don Valley line at Jonesville as opposed to having a source way further north at Victoria Square.


So the flows on the bottom section of the line in either case would not be substantially different.  The difference is with a new source as far south as Eglinton, you can boost the pressure back up in the line to account for the line losses experienced from Victoria Square to Jonesville.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's take a short break.  Again, we're very tight for time, but let's try to keep it to 10 minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, everyone.  I would like to get started again.  We're going to move to Mr. Quinn, but Mr. Elson had very quick follow-up to something he had asked, so we'll do that first, and then we'll move to Mr. Quinn.


MR. ELSON:  I just didn't understand one thing.  If the same event were to occur, the flooding in the Don Valley - my understanding is that occurred below Jonesville station - if that were to occur after the project had been completed, how would that risk at all have been mitigated by this project?


MR. THALASSINOS:  If this had occurred post the GTA project being in place, the operating pressure of that line would be lower, so if there was an actual failure caused by this flooding, the consequences would have been less.


And secondly --


MR. ELSON:  Of which line, are you talking about?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Of the line at the location where there is flooding.


MR. ELSON:  Between Jonesville and station B; is that --


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  Why would the operating pressure be lower there?


MR. THALASSINOS:  We would have the ability to be lowering the operating pressure there, and you could have some restrictions during the peak winter conditions that would cause you to be at potentially higher pressure.


I should direct that -- more specifics of the question to the panel dealing with the simulation.


MR. FERNANDES:  I think I can clarify, to some extent.  Can you bring up the map from A31 -- I believe it's figure 2 or attachment 2, showing the system.


So to try and elaborate on the point today, the Don Valley line is -- has a source from Victoria Square, and it's trying to feed from, essentially, the top of this map.  It's the green line on the eastern side.  And it's trying to maintain a minimum system pressure at station B.


So with the pressure, as is it today, operating up to 450 pounds, it's required to feed all of the areas south from Victoria Square.


In the future state, with the proposed facilities in, Victoria Square is no longer required to feed all the way down to station B.  The portion between Jonesville and station B can be fed exclusively from Jonesville station, and can be sourced on segment B, essentially.


So you have a much shorter length and a much smaller area in which you need to feed.  Therefore you can do that on the same line with a lower pressure.


MR. ELSON:  So the difference is that you're going to have the pressure regulator at Jonesville station, basically?


MR. FERNANDES:  So the line can operate below 30 percent SMYS yet still meet all of the firm demand, whereas today, in this situation that we're referring to, if we were in cold winter conditions and you had to lower the pressure in the line to get below 30 percent SMYS to ensure safety, you would not be able to meet firm demand.


MR. ELSON:  That's because of the pressure regulator; it's not because you have the twinned line?  It's the pressure regulation at Jonesville station that makes that possible; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Segment B with Jonesville station and Buttonville station acts as two additional sources into the Don Valley line, so you're effectively segmenting the line.  By creating additional sources into the line, you don't need as much pressure, because you are not actually serving as great a distance, or as great an area.


MR. ELSON:  Because of the pressure regulation at Jonesville; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  It's the fact that it's a source.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Sorry, just a point of clarification.


I know we've been spending a lot of time talking about this one incident that happened last week, and actually that we're still currently evaluating, so we're still under 300 pounds and are determining what -- how we can resolve that situation safely, but the point was illustrated to show that anomalies, issues, integrity issues can come up at any point in our system, not just on this particular section.


And we've seen that -- you know, we've given examples in evidence of Collingwood and Cornwall, and we've also had other situations where, when we run internal inspection pig, we have what is called an immediate indication, which typically means that you would lower the pressure following an internal inspection pig run, to -- and you might have to keep it there for a period of time until you can repair the situation or determine that it's safe.


So again, I know we're using -- we're focussing on this particular incident, but the point of that is that you need operational flexibility to deal with these types of situations, is that it's not only about the ability to theoretically run a model on a peak day, and I meet my peak load demand and therefore I'm okay.


No.  You need to have operational flexibility not only for your peak day, but you need to be able to have some operational capability, knowing that certain upset conditions can happen at any time of the year.


And so we -- when we do our simulations and try to do our designs, we look at how we can ensure to have a right amount of operational flexibility, which both -- means being able to meet the peak day upset conditions, and from there we have conservative assumptions in terms of how we do our design so that we're not running to the edge.  If you are running to the edge, it only takes something -- a small thing to tip it over.


So we'd have conservative assumptions and then we need things -- more than one feed in some cases, or other assumptions that we make to make sure that we can handle situations both from a safety and reliability perspective.


And that's why we need to continue to do that moving forward with the GTA project.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, can we move to you now?

Questions by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Good afternoon, panel.  I'm going to just explore an area that you were talking with Mr. Smith and Mr. DeRose about, but I want to make sure the record is clear, also.


The question was asked of the panel, did -- about the letter yesterday, where the NEB dismissed the review application.


Would you take it, subject to check, that the next paragraph says:

“The board has decided to deem part of the TransCanada review application requesting variances to the main lines tariff as a separate application to amend the main lines tariff made pursuant to part 4 of the Act.  The board will hear the merits of the tariff proposals pursuant to the streamlining procedure set out in RH-003-2011 Decision."


Would you take that as being the NEB's letter, subject to check?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, we would.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Then going on, there was a lot of discussion about the memo of understanding, memorandum of understanding.  I don't know that you need to turn it up, because these are high-level questions.


Given where Enbridge is at right now, would Enbridge be willing to do an open season, on its own or with another partnered company, to look at how the benefits that were originally contemplated under the TPCL partnership could actually be realized by Ontario customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As I mentioned earlier, under the -- obligations under the MOU would prevent us from holding an open season at this point to open up the path to other shippers.  It would require an amendment to the MOU between TransCanada and Enbridge.


I just did want to reiterate that the MOU did contemplate TransCanada's obligation to conclude and meet the needs of its shippers.


For example, clause 16 under section B - and I believe it's clause 17 had they chosen the other election - require TransCanada to accommodate Enbridge's requests for future service on a commercially reasonable basis.


There's also an amendment to section D, which will survive the MOU, that requires TransCanada to work diligently and cooperatively with the eastern LDCs to Expand the path.


So that is the spirit of the MOU, and that's what's captured in the MOU at this point in time.


MR. QUINN:  I take it your answer is technically correct, but I guess my question is slightly different than that.


Mr. Smith asked you about using an open season to determine market demand.  You agreed with him, I understand, that that would give Enbridge or -- if an open season was done, you would have a better understanding of the market demand for services?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  So have you approached TransCanada -- I'm going to go in the right order here, maybe.  Given the letter from the board yesterday, have you approached TransCanada to discuss what their intent is at this time?  Does the board's decision yesterday change their intent?  Have you approached them to discuss that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have not approached them since yesterday.  However, we have been in discussions with them and expressed very specific concern that the markets, the full markets of the eastern LDCs, need to be served.  And we have particular concern that sizing the eastern triangle only to meet existing firm demand would not allow the eastern LDCs to fulfil their obligations to their firm customers because, as everybody is aware, there's a fair bit of discretionary service today that meets the firm demands of our customers.


So we are definitely having those discussions with TransCanada, and, in addition, there is a response to an interrogatory, I believe it might be Board Staff 48, where we have indicated that in the event that these discussions lead to additional market demand and the pipeline then needs to be resized back to NPS 42, that Enbridge is allowing for that possibility to provide an update before the settlement conference.


MR. QUINN:  That is helpful.  I do remember reading that, and so I guess that answers the second part of my question.  You would be informing the Board prior to a settlement conference as to the status of the discussions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I do want to reiterate that the spirit of the MOU was to ensure the coordinated planning of infrastructure in order to meet the needs of Enbridge's customers, as well as TransCanada's customers.  And certainly there is every indication that TransCanada's customers want access to secure economical supplies of natural gas and they desire to have access to short haul, in particular.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That might lead in well.  I'm going to try to go quickly, and then hopefully provide a summary to your counsel tonight, but can you turn up FRPO 18 -- sorry, A1 EGD FRPO 18?


In terms of the meeting the needs of your customers, one of those is to provide contingency plans for emergency response.  I was asking about the Eastern Canadian Mutual Assistance Program.  Your answer provided:

"Gas control staff from several eastern Canadian and US LDCs meet annually to discuss operations and occasionally conduct emergency planning exercises.  They are for training purposes.  Written reports are not created."


Are there any summary reports from those discussions that would be helpful for us to know that this emergency planning is occurring and what those contingency plans may look like?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe I would be able to provide any summary reports from these meetings.


MR. QUINN:  Are there any internal Enbridge documents that speak to, as a result of what you've learned, what your contingency plan would be if, let's say, Parkway were lost on a peak day or a cold winter day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, we did have discussions around the loss of Parkway directly with Union Gas, and I believe there are some presentations that address that possibility.


MR. QUINN:  But included TransCanada in terms of what they could do to help you in that scenario?  That's the point I was asking.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge's feed from at Parkway is directly off the suction side of Union's compressor.  There is a very limited capability at Parkway from TransCanada, and I believe those volumes are listed again in response to an interrogatory which I cannot recall.


MR. QUINN:  To move things along, if you can take an undertaking to provide that IR response, my question may be partially answered or sufficiently answered in that response.  So if you would take an undertaking to --


MR. FERNANDES:  There's something that I think we can elaborate on there, as well.


MR. QUINN:  In interests of time, if I may, I've got a number of questions and I don't want to preclude others, so if we can just do it by way of undertaking, I'll do the leg work.


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSE TO A1 EGD FRPO 18.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Again, this is trying to be high level.  If you could then move on to -- well, I see there's an A2 at the start of this, so is there somebody on the A2 panel that does gas supply?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, that would be us.


MR. QUINN:  That's what I thought might be this panel, so I'm going to try the question and you can tell me if it needs to be punted.  If you turn up Exhibit A2 EGD FRPO 26?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  I had asked the question in terms of -- the scenario that you had painted was a 100 percent utilization, or, well, meeting your needs through additional long haul transport, and I asked the question about the storage you would have available to support that type of scenario.  I see your answer here.


My question is that I would ask is:  Could you provide me with -- if Enbridge did not obtain additional storage to use this as its desired scenario or expected scenario, what the UDC cost would be, based upon your current gas supply needs?


MR. DENOMY:  We can undertake to provide that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE UDC COST BASED UPON CURRENT GAS SUPPLY NEEDS IF ENBRIDGE DOES NOT OBTAIN ADDITIONAL STORAGE, EXHIBIT A2 EGD FRPO 26.


MR. QUINN:  I'm going to shift gears into what may end up being areas you would like the folks on this -- that do simulations to undertake for us tomorrow, and this part may go to writing.  But I have a question.  Is there going to be engineering people on your panels 2 or 3 tomorrow that would speak to technical issues of system design?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So I think I'll start the question, and, again, if it's best to go to that panel, then please direct me that way.  If you can turn up --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Quinn, what specifically would be

-- is it about overall system design or is it about --


MR. QUINN:  This one here is more specific, and I'll start with the question again and maybe you can again tell me if this is the appropriate panel.


If you can turn up FRPO A1.11?  It is to deal with the maximum operating pressure of the system being 480, but the choice Enbridge is making to run it at 450.


I guess, first off, I provided your counsel today an extracted page of the Z662, and I believe he gave to the panel, that provides 4.18.1.2?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. QUINN:  It basically says in that section -- I'll read it into the record:

"Where failure of the pressure control system or other causes can result in a maximum operating pressure of the piping being exceeded, overpressure protection shall be installed to ensure that the maximum operating pressure is not exceeded by more than 10 percent or 35 kPA, whichever is greater."


You are familiar with that aspect of the code?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  So can you provide to me an understanding?  If the maximum allowable operating pressure is 480 pounds, does this code not say that you have a range of tolerance that would be interpreting that code matter of 48 pounds over top of the current operating -- maximum operating pressure as a contingency in the event of an upset condition?


MR. THALASSINOS:  First of all, before we start, I just want to point out the code reference is for June 2007, Z662, and it's the -- 2011 is the current code.  So this is an older clause, but I will speak to the clause regardless.


MR. QUINN:  Are you aware of any amendments to that clause in 2011?


MR. THALASSINOS:  None that I can recall off the top of my head.


MR. QUINN:  Myself neither, but this was the one that was available.


MR. THALASSINOS:  I think it's important to know, and it's stated right in the Z662, that the code not a cookbook in terms of -- it's a minimum standard.  It's not something we just -- it says something can you do; therefore, you should do it.


If you look in the preamble in the Z662 code, it talks about you need to look at all the sections in terms of applying these code requirements with prudent engineering knowledge and judgment.


So in this particular case, the majority of companies that -- gas utilities actually do not -- actually operate their pressure control systems such that they operate below their MOP.  Despite this ability to do this up to 10 percent above the MOP in emergency or upset failure conditions, the vast majority of companies actually set their settings below the MOP.


And so what -– and the other thing to note is that in Canada there is a term "MOP" and in the States there is "MAOP" versus "MOP."  And so sometimes the MOP is an absolute, hard "do not go over this" number.


Sometimes the original design of the pipeline allows a higher MOP; so for example, a line might have been designed to operate at 500 pounds, let's just say, but that we –- that, let's say, a line has been operating for operating reasons, and we give earlier descriptions of what some of those operating reasons might be; let's say it was running at 300 pounds.  If you were to do that for -- let's say, run that system at 300 pounds for, let's say, five years, 10 years, whatever, that essentially becomes your MOP.


So even though the line is capable of running more, your MOP is actually set to 300, and if you actually did want to operate it up to 500 pounds, you would have to do an engineering assessment to get up to that value.


So there is an example where, even if you are operating at 300 pounds and you were -- had set your regulators even at higher than that level, it's not the same issue as another situation where my design pressure where I'm actually able to operate is at a set level, and I cannot go over that particular number because I'm already at my maximum.


So if we look at these two particular lines --


MR. QUINN:  I'm looking at the one line.


MR. THALASSINOS:  Sorry, the one line, the NPS 30, the set point is 450, because the MOP of 480 is actually a hard number; that is, we do not want to go above that number or near that number.  So when we do our set points, what we're looking at is -- one is considering the equipment that we're using, in terms of where we set our operator and monitor regulators and our relief, which sort of tells us we have a failure condition.  So we want to make sure that those operator and monitor regulators do not interfere with each other as they are operating, because regulators have a pressure fluctuation, respond to load.


MR. QUINN:  Is it 30 pounds?


MR. THALASSINOS:  It depends on different configurations.


MR. QUINN:  May I suggest that it would save -- you and I could have a coffee and you could tell me all about this and I could actually dialogue with you, but that might not help the other people in the room.


I had asked the question about what using the 480 would do to the simulation.  I would like to ask if you would do the simulation, and if you want to provide as a -- by undertaking, the engineering assessment you have done to dictate 450 versus 480 and what the costs would be to overcome that limitation, then you can put that in the undertaking also.


But I guess I would like to get the 11(c) and (d) answered, with the understanding that you might put some caveats on its feasibility.


MR. THALASSINOS:  I can do that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO FRPO A1.11(C) AND 11(E)


MR. QUINN:  So this is where I'm going to tread carefully about simulations.


If you would turn up EGD FRPO No. 4, would the -- I'm sorry.  Would the people who are best able to answer further follow-up questions in this area be in the panels tomorrow, the difference between a transient and steady- state simulation?


MR. THALASSINOS:  I can start in terms of answering any questions, and any other questions can be answered by panel tomorrow.


MR. QUINN:  We might respectfully disagree as to how they are best used, but does Enbridge have an authority it relies on for that statement that you've provided here?


MR. THALASSINOS:  No.  There isn't a particular authority that we point to.


So Enbridge does their analysis, their long-term analysis using steady-state analysis.  They do that for an extreme winter condition, and in addition they -- we do that with all our interruptible customers on.


And so those are conservative assumptions, and those are the conservative assumptions that, for as long as I've been at Enbridge, we've been using.  So those are consistent assumptions in terms of how we actually do our network simulation.


When we're thinking about those assumptions, the reason we do that is because we want to, again, ensure a safe and reliable network, which means that you don't design to what -- to the edge, which would -- I guess what I would characterize a transient analysis, which might give you an answer, but there is no buffer for any type of upset conditions or any types of variance in terms of the simulation model.


So we design conservatively and we have done that for as long as I've been in the gas company, and that helps us when we get these upset conditions, these surprises that we've talked about in terms of the -- lowering different pressures, different parts of our systems for whatever reason, it gives us the operational flexibility that we have used to get us through different types of situations.


The one we didn't talk about was a TPCL rupture a few years ago, and that certainly strained our system, and this additional operational flexibility is often key for us to be able to get through these incidents without losing large amounts of customers.


MR. QUINN:  So to summarize briefly, you're saying you use the line pack in the system as an engineering contingency to provide you operational flexibility and risk mitigation?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.  We use -- line pack is part of the operational flexibility and contingency that you have.  It's a buffer, it's a safety buffer that you can use, and if you use up that safety buffer, it's not there.


MR. QUINN:  So you said this has been the approach that Enbridge has used, and I respect that that is what you've been performing, I guess, in terms of analysis.


But I guess my simple question:  Would you be willing, by way of undertaking, to provide some form of reference or published paper that says that this is the way gas utilities should be -- accepting that you are running a high-pressure system, that the steady-state simulation is the best indication of your system design requirement?


MR. FERNANDES:  Can you pull up A33, the attachment for EN Engineering?  And if you could pull up 7.1.1, I believe?  It might take you a while.  It's a big one, but that's --


MR. QUINN:  Are you asking me or the people who are around you?


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm asking over there.  It may take them a moment, but Enbridge did do third-party validation that was included in our prefiled evidence, and I believe there is a reference there, that they stated it's a common practice.


MR. QUINN:  If that's a reference I can rely on, then I can do the legwork and look that up and I can ask any further questions to your simulation folks tomorrow; is that fair enough?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's fair.  I believe it's in the EN Engineering report.  I believe it's 7.1.1, but I would have to check my notes.  I don't have it in front of me.


MR. QUINN:  In the interests of time, then, I will move on.  If you could just turn up, instead, FRPO 5, which should be the next interrogatory?


In this interrogatory, notwithstanding your concerns about transient simulations, I appreciate you did provide the simulations I had requested, but unfortunately -- if you just can stick with page 1, just for a moment -- I had asked for the pressures and throughputs, so the last sentence at the bottom says:

"...with peak hour throughputs and resulting pressures at key stations and delivery points."


If you read the interrogatory response, you provided some pressures, some throughputs, but not pressures and throughputs for the locations.  If that table could be filled out, I would appreciate it.  And this, again, if you want me to continue on this line of questions or reserve this for tomorrow, we could talk with your simulation folks.


MR. THALASSINOS:  For the specifics, I think it would be best.


MR. QUINN:  I'm going to stop at that point.  I will send additional questions through your counsel this evening.


Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Those are my questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.


Who would like to go next?  Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Your microphone.

Questions by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I'm going to go back to the gas supply issue for a moment, and I would like to go to A1 EGD BOMA No. 5.  This is a question that asks about -- ask Enbridge about where you get your gas supplies from now and how that would change after the GTA project.  Do you have that?


MR. THALASSINOS:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Now, I want to start -- there's two tables there.  The table on the left is the supply source as a percentage of total supply today, and the table on the right or the column on the right is the supply source as a percentage of total supply in 2016; right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  If I look down at the second line from the bottom, direct purchase delivery, you show 37.9 percent coming from direct purchasers today, and that goes down to 30.5 percent in 2016.  Now, why is that?  What is the basis for that decline?


MR. DENOMY:  The 2013 numbers you are seeing here were developed for our 2013 rate case.  So the percentages here are essentially the sources of supply that would underpin our Board-approved gas supply portfolio in 2013.  The 2016 forecast is essentially an update.


MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry, the 2016 forecast is...


MR. DENOMY:  Is an update to our projection to take into account '14, '15 and '16, so it's a forecast done at a different point in time with a different set of information that we knew at that point in time.


The 2016 forecast was done later, or after we did the 2013 forecast.  So it simply reflects a set of updated assumptions in terms of demand for direct purchase customers and consequently the supplies that they would be providing us.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.  But I would take it from that answer that this change, a decline from 37.9 down to 30.5, has nothing to do with the GTA project particularly, or does it, and if it does, what does it have to do with the GTA project?


MR. DENOMY:  It doesn't have anything to do with the GTA project.


MR. BRETT:  This is really Enbridge's assessment saying, We're going to have some -- we're going to have a significant amount, maybe 25 percent, return to system --


MR. DENOMY:  Effectively, yes.


MR. BRETT:  -- in the next three years?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, or as a result of declines in average use, for those customers, as well.


MR. BRETT:  Just on that point, the decline in average use would not get you up to 25, 26 percent over three years, though, would it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I could just clarify.


MR. BRETT:  Sure.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Some of this could just be timing.  So the 2013 budget would have been struck sometime in 2011.  So what you are seeing now is really the cumulative effect of some migration that's already occurred, as well as a forecast of --


MR. BRETT:  Do you happen to know what the current situation is today?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Not off the top of my head.


MR. BRETT:  Could you do that?  Could you get me an undertaking on that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we can.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  What would that be?


MR. MILLAR:  That would be JT1.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE OF ENBRIDGE'S CURRENT SOURCE OF SUPPLY AS A PERCENTAGE


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I know you had some cases in the past having to do with direct purchase, and I don't want to get into that in any great detail.  That's another subject in itself.  But by and large, I take it that the supplies that underpin those direct purchase customers' deliveries to you are firm, for the most part?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We have no way of knowing what the direct purchase -- the underpinning supplies are.  The direct purchase customers have an obligation to deliver every day their mean daily volume into the --


MR. BRETT:  There's no provision in your bundled -- in your bundled-T agreements or any of the other agreements that require them to have a particular type of firm capacity underlying the --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  There is no requirement that they demonstrate firm transport.


MR. BRETT:  In any event, just to put the thing to rest, the decline in direct purchase is not linked to the GTA project?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Then if I look up at the -- I want to look at two other lines there.  One is the -- well, the peaking supply, what this is saying to me is peaking in seasonal supply is not a significant part of your supply now, nor will it be in 2016.  It would remain de minimis; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  What we're showing here are annual volumes, I believe.  So peaking supplies are significant on peak day, but by definition they are only used for very few days in the year.  So on annual basis, they are very, very low.


MR. BRETT:  I should have understood that.  That's -- what is the -- what would that percentage be, roughly, that is supplied by peaking supplies on a peak day in both 2013 and 2016?  If you don't have it handy, you could do it by undertaking.


MR. DENOMY:  I can give it to you right now.  I would refer you to Exhibit E, tab 3, schedule 5, table 5.  Just let me dig that up.


MR. BRETT:  I could maybe short-circuit this.  What I'm really trying to get at here is:  As a result of the GTA project, are you -- now that you explain we're talking about total volumes here annually, the reduction from 0.3 to 0.1 tells me that you are replacing some peaking supply as part of the GTA project; is that --


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.  Our intent would be to displace all of the peaking supplies to the Enbridge --


MR. BRETT:  What is that at the moment?  What's the amount of that peaking supply?


MR. DENOMY:  105,000 gJs a --


MR. BRETT:  gJs a day.  How is that contracted now?  Is that something that is supplied you to on a delivered basis at Parkway or --


MR. DENOMY:  Peaking supplies are delivered supplies to the Enbridge CDA.


MR. BRETT:  Then the other one is the delivered supplies.  Now, delivered supplies you show as 13.4 percent now going down to 3.67 percent in 2016.  Could you explain what supplies those are?  What is meant by that?  How do you differentiate -- delivered supplies are supplies that are sold to you at your city gate, I take it?


MR. DENOMY:  No.  Delivered supplies are supplies that we procure at Dawn, and then --


MR. BRETT:  At Dawn?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, at Dawn, and then we move from Down to the Enbridge CDA or Dawn to Parkway, as the case may be.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  In this graph, these two columns tell me the delivered supplies are going down from 13.4 to 3.7, which tells me that as a result of the -- well, as a result of something, you are getting -- you are getting rid of a lot of delivered supply and you are replacing that with something else.


It looks to me, from reading the next line, Niagara supplies going from zero to 17.0, if you just bear with me a moment, you are replacing the delivered supplies at Dawn with Niagara supplies, gas you will purchase at the border and move through your planned transportation capacity on TransCanada; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could we just take a second?


MR. DENOMY:  Just a moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENOMY:  I think it would be best at this point if we were to undertake to provide you with a fuller explanation for the reasons for the changes in supply for each of these line items, if that would be okay.


MR. BRETT:  That would be fine.


MR. WASYLK:  That's going to be JT1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10: TO UPDATE SUPPLY SOURCE CHANGES FROM 2013 TO 2016.


MR. BRETT:  The only other thing I would like to ask on that table is the western Canadian supplies, you have it remaining stable; the same, actually, no change.


Now, you may wish to include that -- I guess you will include that in your undertaking, as well?


MR. DENOMY:  That will be part of the response.


MR. BRETT:  Would you, as well, just put in there what part of that comes -- percentage terms, what comes on TPCL and what part comes on Alliance, Alliance Vector, please?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  I want to flip back for a moment for BOMA 2.  That's A1, EGD, BOMA 2, and you're talking here, again, about gas supply considerations.


This question actually deals with the Oil East project, but my question isn't so much about the Oil East project as about a particular statement here.  You say at page 3 of 4 in the top paragraph, you say:

“TransCanada has indicated that it will work with shippers to ensure that existing firm transportation service requirements will be met."


And I know you comment elsewhere in this answer or others about the central delivery area and the eastern area.  My interest is the next sentence.  You say:

“However, up to 30 percent of the Enbridge franchise distribution system requirements are being met with discretionary services of delivered supply, not backed by firm transportation contracts."


Now, does that refer to short-term firms –- ST FT on TransCanada?  Is that what that 30 percent is, essentially?


MR. DENOMY:  So if you turn to Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5, page 28?


MR. BRETT:  Yeah?


MR. DENOMY:  Table 1?


MR. BRETT:  I don't have that with me, actually.  I don't know if it can be put up on the screen here.


Could you just say that a little more slowly?


MR. DENOMY:  Sure.  Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5, page 28, table 1.


MR. BRETT:  Just let's turn this up here.  Page 28 now.  We're on page 1.  Okay.  I see.  All right? 


MR. DENOMY:  Just in terms of definition, we define unsecured supplies as supplies that we would get from calling curtailment on peak day; peaking supplies, which, as we discussed earlier, we don't know the transportation contracts that underpin those supplies -- they're delivered directly to our franchise area -- and elements of direct purchase supplies that are delivered directly to our franchise area that are not underpinned by an assignment of either long-haul or short-haul capacity to us.


That's unsecured supply.


MR. BRETT:  Just on that last point, when you do bundled-T contracts, bundled-T transportation contracts, do you include that as a direct-purchase contract that's relying on capacity assigned from you?


I guess you would not, eh?  Or would you?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Some of the mass market Ontario T-service customers are using an assignment of capacity from us, short-haul capacity, and that was pursuant to a system reliability proceeding.


But the vast majority of bundled-T is not backed by --


MR. BRETT:  So the ones that you are talking about in the previous answer would be the ones that are done with some of those Ontario mass market purchasers, or with, what, a very large customer that's effectively taking an assignment from you? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If you look at the "Status Quo" column, the 60 that you see there at the bottom, the very last row, that's direct-purchase Ontario T customers that are taking an assignment from us, and that includes short-haul assignments for some of the mass market customers, and some of them take a long-haul assignment.


But the total deliveries is a much larger number; it's the sum of 285 in the line above, and 60.  The 285 number, we are not aware that it is backed by firm transportation -


MR. BRETT:  So you don't know, really, whether it is or it isn't?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, there are no contracts to the Enbridge CDA that -- or the EDA that indicate that other suppliers are using firm transportation on TransCanada to deliver those volumes.


MR. BRETT:  Well, or anywhere else?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, it needs to be delivered into the franchise, and there are no -- we're not aware of firm transportation contracts that are being used to deliver them.


MR. BRETT:  No, but you wouldn't know necessarily -- you wouldn't know necessarily how the daisy chain worked.  If, for example, an end-use purchaser in Ontario - I'm asking a question here; it's a rhetorical question – an end user in Ontario contracts with a marketer like, say, BP, BP might very well hold firm transportation on the appropriate pipeline and sell it to the marketer.  So that transaction would be underpinned by firm transportation; it just wouldn't be held by the end user?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The point is that if there was firm transportation to the Enbridge CDA, then we would see it under BP's name, because TransCanada does post all firm transportation contracts.


So it may very well be partly supported by firm transportation somewhere else along the supply chain.  We have not seen -–


MR. BRETT:  You don't know?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We don't know, but we definitely do know they are not firm into the Enbridge CDA, because we don't see a firm transportation contract under a third party's name delivering into the Enbridge CDA.


MR. BRETT:  How do you know, if you see BP listed with a hundred units, how do you know how many of those hundred units are going to whom?


Those could be going to a whole variety of end users in your franchise area.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In that example, I'm telling you that I do not see a contract under the name of BP.  And I'm not picking BP at this point, but I do not see a firm transportation contract under BP's name into the Enbridge.


MR. BRETT:  I'll come back to that in some other manner. 


I just want to finish up here with a couple of -- two more questions.  I would like you to turn up BOMA 18, please, and before I get into 18 -- let's go directly to 18.  If you look at page 2 of 3, and I would like you to look at the first paragraph there, paragraph A, it talks about the capacity that you have on TransCanada -- on the joint line that we talked about earlier, which you -- and you say it's 800 tJs a day, and you say 200 -- you say 600 of the 800 is going to be required to flow gas under firm short-term contracts from Dawn and Marcellus, displacing STFT and peaking arrangements. 


Now, as I understand your earlier -- your reply, I think, to BOMA 1, of that 600, 200 would be from Marcellus, starting on November 1st, 2015; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Now, the 200 that you have not yet contracted for but you have contracted to take transportation commencing November 1st, 2015, that gas you would buy at Niagara, as I understand it, you would bring it in on your transportation capacity, and then you state -- you don't have to look this up, I don't think, but you state over in BOMA 1 that you move it through the Hamilton line to your city gate; correct?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct, with one clarification.  We haven't contracted for that 200,000 gJs a day of firm transportation for --


MR. BRETT:  You have a conditional -- you have a precedent agreement or something?


MR. DENOMY:  No, we don't.


MR. BRETT:  You don't have anything?  I thought you had contracted conditionally on the GTA project going ahead that you would take that transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The Niagara volumes have not been contracted for.  We haven't --


MR. BRETT:  The gas volumes or the transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Neither.  They are embodied in the memorandum of understanding with TransCanada as an intent, at this point.


MR. BRETT:  I see.  All right.  Well, then taking that into account, the other -- I just want to -- going back to the Hamilton line for an instant, as I understand it, that gas will enter your system at Enbridge –- at Parkway on the suction side, right?  That would be the intent?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Off of TransCanada's interconnect with us at Parkway.


MR. BRETT:  At Parkway?  That will not go through compression.  That will come directly into your system at your Parkway city gate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  TransCanada has indicated the pressures at which they would deliver to us is more akin to what we receive on the suction side from Union, so about 500 pounds.


MR. BRETT:  So that would be okay, then?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  But that's where it would be taken, is what you are saying.  You are saying TransCanada is going to deliver it to you at the Union normal pressure, which means it is not going through compression.  Okay.


Then the 400 is -- just give me a second here.  That is the 400 that -- 200 from Marcellus, which will be Marcellus and 200 -- sorry, 400 would be from elsewhere, and the 400 I guess would be coming from Dawn; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  It would be displacing STFT.  That would be TransCanada STFT?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And the peaking arrangements that we discussed earlier.  So you would be displacing 400 of -- you would be -- well, not necessarily 400.  You would be displacing 300 of STFT?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe we've actually streamed what we're displacing with specifically how much of Dawn and how much of Marcellus.  The intent is that after 400 from Dawn, that 200 of it will be offered to the direct purchase market.


MR. BRETT:  Two hundred will be offered to the direct purchase market?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  So 200,000 of transportation capacity would be offered to the direct purchase market.


MR. BRETT:  Substituting for something they already have?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Presumably they would then source their supply at dawn and would --


MR. BRETT:  Rather than TransCanada -- rather than Empress?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I wouldn't know exactly what it would be displacing, because I don't know how they contract for it.  But we would now know they are sourcing it at Dawn it and would be underpinned by firm transportation into the franchise, thereby addressing a concern we currently have.


MR. BRETT:  Then the other 200, you say the next line down:

"Enbridge will contract for annual incremental amounts of short haul capacity and supply over the period 2016-2025 to accommodate organic growth amounting to the residual capacity of 200 tJs a day."


That means -- that's the portion of this capacity that you would be using to find growth, internal growth; is that it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Who is next?

Questions by Mr. Wolnik:


MR. WOLNIK:  I am happy to go next.  Good afternoon, panel.  John Wolnik representing APPrO.


I just have two brief question areas.  The main question area is going to be APPrO 1, so if we wanted to bring that up just while I ask this other question, that might save us a little bit of time.


I wanted to follow up on Mr. Brett's comment or questions about the peaking service, 105,000 gJs a day that I understand is going to be not required as a result of this GTA reinforcement.  Is that what I understood?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Presumably before, that was delivered to the Enbridge CDA.  Am I right in saying that that was -- at least a majority of that capacity would have been Victoria Square before?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Now it's going to be coming in at Parkway or Bram West?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that capacity or volume will move from the west to east arrangement, right, on segment A, and also at least a portion of it on segment B?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that segment B portion will interconnect with the north-south portion of segment B and continue to serve part of that market in downtown Toronto?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. WOLNIK:  And the Don Valley line, I take it, is one of the major feeds into downtown; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  That was all I had on that by way of follow-up.


Just looking at APPrO 1(b), there is some discussion about reserve capacity there.  As I understand it, reserve capacity really provides -- it's flexibility for Enbridge to accommodate some of those upset conditions.  You need -- there's a line break, or you're doing maintenance work and you really need a back flow situation; right?


You need to be able to bring gas in from another area in order to keep the market alive; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  Also, in (b) we talk about to balance flows on the system.  Can you just explain that a bit more?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So the reference to the words "balance flows in the system", it has to do with the manner in which we use our NPS 26 line today.  I believe we explained how that line is used for gas control purposes in our evidence at tab 3-3, schedule 3.


So what we are referring to is that we have these STS contracts that are used to bring gas from storage at Parkway, and we have the use of additional nomination windows on those contracts.  In terms of the gas that's coming in off of other contracts, we're limited to four nomination windows.


So given the highly seasonal -- sorry, highly peaking nature of demand intraday in the GTA, given a lot of it is heat sensitive, having additional load balancing capability within the system allows us to not go over the uniform hourly flow requirements of TransCanada, and yet meet our LBA requirement, which is to be within a 2 percent tolerance over --


MR. WOLNIK:  So these are really the intraday flows.  Between nomination windows, you need to keep the system alive so it doesn't run out of gas, and you balance -- as I understand it, you would balance the system customers where you supply the gas; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would balance all customers.


MR. WOLNIK:  All customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Including unbundled?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would not be required to balance unbundled customers pursuant to the FTSN service that they are taking.


MR. WOLNIK:  So it is really system customers, and you do the balancing for bundled direct purchase customers?  That was --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I use the word "system" as being sales customers but, yes, system as in bundled customers.


MR. WOLNIK:  So you are really balancing those other customers.  You are not balancing unbundled customers?


MR. BRETT:  We do offer our unbundled customers also balancing services under rate 125, and to the extent they are not seeking it on peak day, we do endeavour to accommodate hourly variations in demand and supply, and the same assets would be used for that, as well.


MR. WOLNIK:  If we can move to the response to question (i), this sort of talks about the amount of reserve capacity that exists at station B, and I think this is after the installation of the facilities.  It would be 160,000 tJs a day of reserve capacity after the facilities are in sort of day 1; is that right?  Is that the way I understand the response?


MR. FERNANDES:  That would be how much capacity is available at station B after --


MR. WOLNIK:  Reserve capacity; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  On the first day.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  And that would be the reserve capacity in excess of the peak day that you could use to help accommodate those upset conditions in the core, I presume.  So if there is an upset condition in the Lakeshore line, for instance, you could move on day one 160,000 tJs a day from station B into the core; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's the physical system capability.


MR. WOLNIK:  That system capability declines to 130,000 tJs by the end of that period; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  In addition to that, as I understand it, part of the design of this is to accommodate growth in the system of roughly 190,000 tJs over the 10-year period; is that about right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  This 190,000 tJs would be excluded from these numbers?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  By 2050, you would have the ability to move the growth, and I'm not sure how much of that 190 is through station B.  Would you know that answer, by the way?


MR. FERNANDES:  I don't know the answer off the top of my head, but I believe we can get a reference for you.


MR. WOLNIK:  That might be helpful just to understand that.


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE HOW MUCH GROWTH CAN GO THROUGH STATION B IN 2015


MR. WOLNIK:  In addition to whatever growth does go through station B of that 190,000, you could also accommodate the 130,000 gJs a day of reserve capacity to handle those upset conditions and balancing whatever else is needed from day to day?


MR. FERNANDES:  The system would have the physical capacity to do that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.


Who else do for Enbridge panel 1?  Mr. Garner? 

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Some of these questions, if not all of these questions, may be for another panel, but based on what I'm hearing, maybe this panel can answer them.


I just want to, first of all, clarify what was discussed this afternoon with Union Gas, and I think I understand, but just so I'm completely clear, it's Enbridge's proposal right now to do a -- on segment A, a 36-inch pipe; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. GARNER:  As I understand what was said this afternoon, TPCL may or may not take capacity on that segment, and that won't be known until November, I believe, 2014; is that what I -- is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  TPCL has expressed an intent to take capacity as if it was electing election 1, which would have been sooner.  However, they do have the ability to elect all the way up to November 2014; that is correct.


MR. GARNER:  But I want to be clear.  What I'm saying is:  You don't have a commitment from them right now to share that pipeline at this moment in time, do you?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.


And in the event they don't take that capacity, as I understand the application, Enbridge will be -- will pay the full freight of that line being built, as opposed to the 50 percent cost-sharing that was -- is contemplated in the original application; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And there is one other change that occurs, though.


So if TransCanada does not take its -- the 50 percent share of the capacity, then TransCanada and Enbridge will work together in order to lower the toll from the Parkway to Bram West section which is being served off of TransCanada, such that the feasibility of the arrangement is not impacted.  So in other words, Enbridge would be paying a lower total to TransCanada in that event.


MR. GARNER:  But is that a firm commitment?  That's a negotiation you were undertaking right now, what that toll may or may not be in the event they don't take capacity?


That's something you -- it's not firm, something you anticipate will happen is this --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the event, if TransCanada did not accommodate our request for a reasonable toll, then we would have the ability to build back to Parkway and to not have to pay TransCanada its toll.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


The interrogatory that I would like to, first, just ask, now that I understand that better, is if you -- and it isn't in the area of your panel.  It's A3, CCC No. 15.


In that interrogatory, what we asked was what were the incremental items that had to be built in order to accommodate the shared -- sharing of the pipeline.  So what we wanted to understand is what is incrementally added to this project in order to share with TransCanada.  And there is in that interrogatory a list of (a) through (d).


And I have two questions, one which you may not be able to answer, but I'll give you them both.


The first question is:  Is this list of incremental items that we see here still anticipated to be part of this project as we speak now?


And will these pieces, under the current scheduling, be built -- or committed to, is maybe a better thing -- before the November 14th date at which you have to know, or you will know what TPCL is going to do?


MR. FERNANDES:  I can answer the first one.  These are part of the project as it stands today.  We would have to check on the other part of the question, but I would assume, yes, they would still be in place under any condition.


Subject to check, I would assume that we would be building the exact same facilities regardless of whether TransCanada is sharing the line or not.


MR. GARNER:  I wonder if you could check and perhaps 

-- in an undertaking, because as you might understand, the concern that my client would have is the cost of those –- those incremental costs being incurred and then not being used if the agreement with TPCL weren't to go forward.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The incremental -- the facilities that are identified here have to do with the interconnect at Bram West, as opposed to the sharing of the pipe.  That is my understanding.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.  These facilities have to do with the current design of the pipeline, and most of them are moving from one location to another as a result of having the Bram West interconnection.  So they were required physically, regardless of the sharing arrangement.


MR. GARNER:  That's interesting, because the interrogatory is specifically asking for what are the incremental costs required for sharing the pipeline, and I understood that these were the items.  And you are saying that's not true?  They're required irrespective?


MR. FERNANDES:  The response is trying to describe the movement from interconnecting from Parkway West to Bram West, so it's listing the changes that are occurring.


So metering is moving from Parkway West-to-Albion.


MR. GARNER:  Perhaps you could do this for us.  It would help me understand and clarify this.  The second part of my question, which wasn't, I don't think, answered in this interrogatory, was what those incremental costs were in the aggregate.  And I think the response was to point back to a table which shows the overall costs of the project, but not the incremental cost.


So perhaps if you could tell me what those incremental costs are, that would also solve the quandary I'm having of understanding what you are trying to say here.


And they could be an aggregate.  I mean, I understand there are issues of confidentiality, and we weren't looking for specific costs.  We were looking for aggregate costs.


MR. FERNANDES:  So to try and answer your question, in terms of sharing the pipeline, there are no incremental costs.


What was listed in the response were the items that were changing with respect to moving the interconnection from Parkway West to Bram West.  If we stay with a connection at Bram West, there are no costs that change, whether we share or not with respect to the facilities.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So we are happy to amend this response.


MR. GARNER:  Well, you have, I guess, in your response right now.  I'm not sure if it's necessary.  I'll take some time to understand that.  Thank you.


The next area I'd like to move on to is actually in respect to the alternatives of the Lakeshore and Lake Ontario that were discussed briefly in the evidence.  And the interrogatory -- just a minute.  I just have to bring it up.


Oh, sorry.  One other question, follow-up question.  Again, this may not be for this panel, in fact, but anyway I'll ask it.  It's in regard to Interrogatory (d)5, CCC No. 26.


In that interrogatory, what we asked was what was the language that you would want in a Board order in order to recover what I believe was called Rate 332, which would be charged to TPCL, in order to recover your 50 percent costs?


And you provided some text in there.  What I'm wondering is if TPCL were to choose not to participate in the pipeline, that language contemplates a revenue stream coming from TPCL.  In the absence of TPCL participating, is there any revenue-offsetting revenue stream, and is this necessary?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is an offsetting transportation saving, in that the toll that we pay TransCanada to go from Parkway to Bram West will be lowered.


MR. GARNER:  But this actual language that you have here for an order would no longer be required, because you wouldn't be seeking any rate from the Board?  A methodology, I think, is what you're saying you're seeking, is a methodology.  You would no longer require that methodology?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  If TransCanada indicated that it was not sharing the pipe, then we would not require this.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I just have one other one I'm just -- to find the interrogatory.  The interrogatory is (a)(iv), CCC No. 17.


In this interrogatory, we asked some questions about the Lakeshore, the potential of building up on the Lakeshore pipeline, either reinforcing it, replacing it, et cetera.  One of the things that we asked in this interrogatory was in, I think, section (b):  What factors 

-- over and above the construction costs which are mentioned in evidence, what other factors caused you not to choose this option?


And in your response, you say it didn't meet all the objectives in Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1.  I have gone back to there and it's still unclear to me, and perhaps you could help me understand precisely what objectives do not get met in this project by building a pipeline or reinforcing the Lakeshore pipeline to bring volume into the downtown GTA core.


So what I would like to be able to understand is specifically what does not get done if that project were undertaken rather than the one that your proposing right now?


MR. FERNANDES:  So specifically the alternatives that we looked at were various alternatives of coming from either a new gate station south of Parkway or taking a look at the terminus of our existing high pressure infrastructure on the southern portion of the system, being the MSL line, which has two 24-inch lines associated with it.


If we were to extend our extra high pressure system and replace with a larger size, the 20-inch Lakeshore line, in order to get into station B, first off, there's a very lengthy routing and very difficult, which adds to cost through the downtown core of the system.


But the other piece that goes along with that is it doesn't meet as much of the supply chain concerns.  We wouldn't be able to get as much capacity without a brand new line all the way from western edge of our franchise straight into station B, so it would be a much larger build, or the capacity requirements to be able to go between the eastern and western portion would not be met.  Therefore, some of the upstream concerns wouldn't be met as fully as they could.


So it could definitely get some of the objectives, but not meet all of them.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Speaking of which, you talk about the costs, and we did ask a question about the cost, and maybe we used unfortunate language.


We asked for the cost benefit analysis, and I'm wondering if there was a cost estimate done of the Lakeshore line replacement and/or reinforcement.  Was there any cost estimate done?


MR. FERNANDES:  Our early comparisons were based on high level benchtop costing, which is primarily driven by length.  So the associated lengths required at the same pipe size through that area were much longer than the proposals.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  I wonder if you could undertake to provide the costs that were used in reviewing this alternative as compared to the project that you are proposing?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  JT1.12.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE COSTS USED TO REVIEW THE LAKESHORE OR LAKE ONTARIO ALTERNATIVES AS COMPARED TO PROPOSALS


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


I think those are all my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Anyone else?

Questions by Mr.  WIGHTMAN:


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Just one quick question.  Can you confirm that for 2016 you will be contracting for more long-term firm transportation on TPCL than you are today?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  At this point, our expectation is, absent a solution for the Enbridge ODA, that we would be contracting for more long haul transport.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  The reason I ask is because on the BOMA 5 you were looking at you had the same percentage of your supplies coming from western Canada, but there's going to be growth in the meantime and there's going to be growth in the peak to average.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We will be revisiting that response and understanding all those numbers and responding to that.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wightman.  Anyone else for this panel?  Hearing nothing -- yes, I'm sorry, Mark.

Questions by Mr.  GARNER


MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry.  There was one other question about the Lakeshore that I did forget, if you don't mind.  Was there ever a plan -- is there a plan with Enbridge to reinforce or replace that line any time in the near future, and near future being the next ten years, to redo that line?  Is that in any of the planning of Enbridge right now?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FERNANDES:  We would have to validate whether that is part of our ten-year plan, so we could get back to you on that.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be a separate undertaking, JT1.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  IS AN UPDATE OF LAKESHORE IN EGD'S 10-YEAR PLAN?


MR. FERNANDES:  We could probably come back with the answer tomorrow, if that's okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  With another panel.


MR. FERNANDES:  With panel 2.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll mark it as an undertaking.  If it gets responded to by another panel, that would be fine.


Anything else for this panel?  Going once, twice?  Okay, the panel is excused.  Mr. Smith, are you prepared to call Union's panel?


MR. SMITH:  When are we sitting until today?


MR. MILLAR:  I would like to go till 5:00, if we can, see how much we can squeeze in.

UNION GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 2


Mark Isherwood


Jim Redford


Paul Reitdyk

Chris Shorts


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. SMITH:  I would.  Maybe I'll just ask, starting at the far end with Mr. Paul Reitdyk, to introduce himself and for the members of the panel to provide their name and positions with Union.


MR. REITDYK:  My name is Paul Reitdyk, and I'm the vice president of engineering, construction and storage and transmission operations.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mark Isherwood.  I'm the vice president of business development, storage and transportation.


MR. REDFORD:  Jim Redford, director of business development and upstream regulation.


MR. SHORTS:  Chris Shorts, director of gas supply.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Millar, before we begin, there are just two small matters that I just would like to clarify on the record, a couple of slight evidence updates.  I gather Mr. Reitdyk has one, and that's in respect of BOMA question 61(c) under issue A1.  Is that right? 


MR. REITDYK:  Yes, that's correct.  The question stated -- asked it might be highly unlikely that Union could locate -- or stated that Union could locate a spare emission combustion engine, and please provide details.  And does Union have a choice as to what type of engine it uses.


No, we don't for that particular unit, but do I have an update to that, that as of last week, we have entered an agreement with Rolls Royce to retain a leased engine in the event of a failure of that particular engine.  So we now have that agreement in place, as of last week.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Reitdyk.


And Mr. Shorts, I gather you had an update or correction to Energy Probe 55?


MR. SHORTS:  Yes, Energy Probe 55(c)7, the number 2 footnote was omitted from the table, and that footnote 2 should read:

“Pre-approval guidelines issued April 23rd, 2009."


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


And then an update to figure 11-1 in EB-2013-0074; is that correct? 


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  In the map we provided, we have shown a value for the Panhandle Field zone of 28,486 gJs per day, and that number should be 39,037 gJs a day.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


I have no further preliminary matters.
Questions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


I'm prepared to start us off again.  I have some questions.  Mr. Viraney may have a couple of questions, though we're not certain if they're for this panel or not.  I'll get us started.


Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar, Counsel to Board Staff.


I'll start with some late-breaking news that I know is of some concern to Union, and that relates of course to the Parkway-to-Milton project of TPCL.


MR. SMITH:  Maple?


MR. MILLAR:  I'll ask about that one, Parkway-to Maple.  Thank you very much.


[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  I have "P-to-M" written down.  I should have written it out in full.


Why don't we start again?  Parkway-to-Maple.  I'm referring to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 7, and just to make sure, for those who may not have read this interrogatory response, this is where Board Staff heard about this, though doubtless it comes up in other areas, as well.  I'm wondering if we can have that pulled up; it's Exhibit I, A1, Union, Staff No. 7.


If we could flip to page 2 of that response, please, you'll see at the top of page 2 on the third line it says:
“TransCanada did not receive its own board of directors' approval to construct a proposed expansion project downstream of Parkway as expected in 2015, and as a result TransCanada has suspended further work."


Now, I know this response was just prepared, or at least just filed, a few days ago.  Do you have any further updates since the filing of this interrogatory?  Has anything changed, as far as you're aware? 


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nothing has changed in relation to TransCanada's election not to build.


MR. MILLAR:  I know this isn't your project, but are you able to tell us if this is on hold, if it's suspended, if it's cancelled?


Do you have any information as to whether or not this will ever be built?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  TransCanada in their notice to us used the word "suspend" so that's why we use the word "suspend" in the interrogatory.


In talking to TPCL, it is, I think, their election not to build for the Gaz Métropolitain and the Union Gas volumes.


I guess from the – it really stems from the NEB decision that was given to them back in the end of March.  Their whole framework has changed, and their election is now not to build.


From a Union Gas point of view and a Gaz Métro point of view is that it's critical to open up that path between Dawn and Maple, to bring that Dawn-based gas into northern and eastern Ontario for customers, as well as into Quebec.


MR. MILLAR:  So this is of great concern to you, no doubt?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've been talking about it since about 2008 or 2009, about the constraint between Parkway and Maple.


And the evolution of the gas market in terms of western supply in decline and Marcellus and Utica growing is just for the betterment of Ontario -- and Quebec, I guess, both -- they need to get access to Dawn.


MR. MILLAR:  So TPCL has used the word "suspended" but for your planning purposes, are you now acting on the assumption that this won't be built, at least in the near to medium term?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union Gas and Gaz Métro have both initiated, jointly initiated, an environmental assessment to building from Albion to Maple, or near Maple.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll get to that in just a moment.


To answer my question, at least for the time being you're assuming that Parkway-to-Maple isn't going to get build by TPCL?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think to create certainty for our customers, we need to assume that we have to build, and in parallel will continue discussions with TransCanada, but we need to keep the option open and available for '15.


MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned Albion-to-Maple, and I think you discussed that also in response to Staff 7 at (c), which is on page 4 of 4 of that response, if we could turn that up.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  This is where you say:

“Union is continuing discussions with TPCL and other market participants to determine if a build in 2015 is possible."


Did I did take it from your previous response you don't think that's likely?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say it's not likely at this point.


MR. MILLAR:  Then you continue:

“Given the significant risk that TPCL is not able or not prepared to build, Union and Gaz Métro have initiated an EA for a pipeline between Enbridge's Albion Road station..."


Which is at the end of segment A:

“...to a point near Maple.  If required, this will support an application for regulatory approval and preserve an expansion of the Parkway-Maple corridor in 2015."


So I wanted to ask you a few questions about that.  First of all, who would build that pipeline?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Still undecided, but at this point I would expect it to be a joint venture between Gaz Métro and Union Gas.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to say who the applicant would be?  Would it be a joint application?


Again, I know it's still --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's really quite preliminary.  This is all happening very quickly, but it would probably be a joint application.


MR. MILLAR:  Albion is connected to Enbridge's system; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you anticipate Enbridge being a part of this?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll, again, not discuss that.  I guess based on the premise of the MOU, it might not be possible, but we will certainly consider that, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  Maple connects -- the Maple area is TPCL, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  TransCanada.  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  So you would be potentially looking at sort of a stub line that is not connected anywhere to Union's system; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Or to Gaz Métro, for that matter?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Gaz Métro definitely need to go from Maple on the TransCanada system, as we would, as well, to get eastern Ontario and northern Ontario.


And we would hopefully be depending upon the Enbridge line to go from, basically, Parkway to Albion.


MR. MILLAR:  Would this project require approval of the OEB, or would this --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Of the OEB.


MR. MILLAR:  Of the OEB?


And you say you've –- I forget the word you've used –- you have initiated an EA.  Can you tell me more about that?  What's the status of the EA?


MR. REITDYK:  The environmental assessment is ongoing as we speak right now, and we expect it will take about six months to complete.


MR. MILLAR:  I haven't looked at one of these in a while.  Is this a class EA or is this a full EA?


MR. REITDYK:  The full environment assessment.


MR. MILLAR:  You've retained a consult, presumably, who is doing that work for you?


MR. REITDYK:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Has this gone to the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee yet?  Or does that come later in the process?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be later in the process.


MR. MILLAR:  So, I'm sorry, you said approximately six months to complete the EA?


MR. REITDYK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I know it's probably still a ways in the future; what is the potential timing for an application to the Board?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think with the EA complete or near complete, we would be applying in the fall.


MR. MILLAR:  This fall?  Fall of 2014?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Late fall.  That would be our intent.


MR. MILLAR:  And if everything went exactly according to plan, what type of schedule are you looking for to actually build it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would be in-service November 1 of '15.


MR. MILLAR:  November 1 of 2015?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should add -- and I guess the memorandum of understanding does create a bit of a concern, but this time last year Union Gas did have a project to actually build from Parkway to Maple.  We actually did an open season last April, early May to build from Parkway to Maple.


So I wouldn't rule that out either, but our current expectation is we would have a source of getting onto the Enbridge line from Albion -- sorry, from Parkway to Albion, and the joint venture would build from Albion to Maple, or near Maple.


MR. MILLAR:  I may follow up on that in a moment, but I just want to finish with the Albion first.


Are you able to provide -- the EA has commenced.  Are you able to provide a map, or at least even an approximate map of the route that you are looking at for this pipeline?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we could do that.


MR. MILLAR:  So that would be JT1.14. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  to PROVIDE MAP OF ALBION TO MAPLE LINE

MR. MILLAR:  Let's assume again that everything goes exactly according to plan.  Would this Albion to Maple line completely replace the Parkway to Maple line, by which I mean would it serve all of the needs that currently you were previously anticipating receiving for Parkway to Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would for 2015.  So in '15 the two folks that need capacity on that path are Gaz Métro and Union Gas.  Our expectation we would be doing open season later in June or July, but that would more likely be for a '16 phase 2, if you want.


Based on the oil line conversion and the impacts it has in eastern Ontario and our customers there, it is likely we will need to flow additional volumes by '16.


MR. MILLAR:  Which you wouldn't be able to accommodate on the Albion to Maple line?  You would need something else?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would hope to be able to use the same pipe.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  So it would serve that function, as well?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We'll know more about that after we do the open season, obviously, in terms of the size and scope of that.


MR. MILLAR:  Should I assume that -- obviously Albion is now at the far end -- or, pardon me, at the eastern end of the segment A of the GTA project.  Should I assume that your plans for Albion to Maple are contingent on segment A being completed?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be the plan A, but as I mentioned, we did have a project last year to go from Parkway all the way to Maple.  That path has to open up.  In order to get that gas into Quebec and into eastern Ontario to benefit our customers, the path has to open up between Parkway and Maple.


MR. MILLAR:  But if you're going Albion to Maple, you would need segment A to be completed; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  To get to the discussion we just had on a potential Union route Parkway to Maple, I guess you held an open season, did I hear, or this is something you've been looking into, in any event?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Held an open season last year to go from Parkway to Maple.  That was before the concept of the Albion line was on the table.  So we were looking at building a complete pipeline from Parkway to Albion -- sorry, Parkway to Maple last year.


MR. MILLAR:  Why did you reject that?  Why didn't you go forward with that at that time?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As far as we did our open season to go from Parkway to Maple, TPCL launched their own open season in parallel with that.  And as we've always said, our preference is to have TransCanada build.  It's really their path, their -- part of their system.  But if they can't or won't, then we or somebody needs to build a path.


So TransCanada did an open season in parallel with ours, and both Gaz Métro and Union Gas elected to go into the TransCanada open season.  They were committing to a 2014 in-service date.  In September of last year, the in-service date was changed to 2015, delayed a year, and then it was totally cancelled or suspended, depending on the term you want to use, in March of this year -- or April this year, I guess it was.


MR. MILLAR:  It sounds to me like your current plan A to do Albion to Maple, and then the back-up plan to that appears to be your own Parkway to Maple; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah.  I think the most efficient thing is still use the Parkway to Albion line that Enbridge is building, and then build from there.  That is the most efficient infrastructure for Ontario, and I think Ms. Giridhar talked to that probably.


MR. MILLAR:  I would be curious as to why.  You will still have to build Albion to Maple from there, so why is it preferable to go from Parkway to Albion to Maple, instead of just going Parkway to Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They'd be on the same right of way. It would be two large pipes going side by side.  It's just more efficient, more --


MR. MILLAR:  The same right of way with TPCL, you mean?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be on the 407 corridor, which is primarily where the Albion line is going.  It's more efficient to have one pipe than two.


MR. MILLAR:  With respect to your -- I'm calling it plan B, but if you don't like that terminology, you can tell me.  Your possible idea of going from Parkway to Maple yourself, that's not even at an EA stage yet, I take it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's not at an EA stage, no.  Our focus now is to build from Albion to Maple.  To the extent that Ontario needs an open access pipeline that goes down that corridor and goes from Parkway to Albion to Maple, we would be happy to build that and perhaps has a potential for future, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  But it is only to the extent you can't get Albion to Maple, for whatever reason, that you would fall back to Parkway to Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If we can't get Parkway to Albion.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Parkway to Albion.


Again, any potential Parkway to Maple project by Union is entirely theoretical at this point.  There hasn't been any serious work done; would that be fair to say?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'd say at this time last year, there was a bit of work done on it in terms of scoping it out, costing it out, kind of getting a sense for how big, how small.  But it was all very, call it, tabletop or desktop.


MR. MILLAR:  In terms of timing, you would be significantly past November 1st, 2015 if you had to go Parkway-Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say more likely be '16, at this point in time.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, assuming you get all the approvals and the EA goes fine?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should ask my VP of engineering beside me here.


MR. REITDYK:  2016.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  He confirmed '16.


MR. MILLAR:  November 2016, or latter half of 2016?


MR. REITDYK:  For us to complete a pipeline from Parkway to Maple, we would be into 2016 for an in-service date.


MR. MILLAR:  And you can't be any more specific than that?


MR. REITDYK:  Late 2016, so we haven't scoped out a construction schedule yet.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The gas year typically goes November 1, so you target for that.  That's what the target would be.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, that is assuming everything goes more or less according to plan?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other potential replacements you would be looking at?  Those are the two that are on the table?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah.  Again, this is so critical for our customers to get that path opened up.  So it is either tag on to the Albion line and make economic, efficient use of that pipeline, or build a parallel line to it.


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing else is on the table at this point?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's assume for a moment that TPCL doesn't build Parkway to Maple, which looks likely now, and also assume with me that either your Albion to Maple project can't be done or is significantly delayed, and similarly your idea of going directly Parkway to Maple is unfeasible or significantly delayed.


I took it from your undertaking response that without some pathway being opened up there, the Brantford to Kirkwall project can't go forward; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  When we were looking at what the effect would be of not having access to that corridor for the Gaz Métro and Union Gas volumes, it would mean that the Brantford-Kirkwall line would be delayed -- that construction would delayed until we do get that path opened up.


MR. MILLAR:  Until you have that path, you can't do Brantford to Kirkwall.  Is that the simplest way to put it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, correct.


MR. MILLAR:  If you don't -- if Brantford to Kirkwall is delayed or cancelled or what have you, the Parkway D compressor is part of that project; is that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Parkway D is required even to feed the Enbridge volumes they have requested.  So that corridor not being opened up to us, but being opened up through the Enbridge build of the Albion line would still require Parkway D.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Giridhar I think pointed me to you for that question, so why don't I ask it right now.  If Brantford to Kirkwall is delayed, should I take it that the Parkway D compressor will be delayed, as well?  You wouldn't build Parkway D unless you were building Brantford to Kirkwall?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would still build Parkway D.


MR. MILLAR:  You would, okay.  So that will go forward --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. MILLAR:  -- no matter what?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Unless the GTA project gets delayed or whatever, but if the GTA project goes ahead in 2015 as planned, Parkway D would be built.  That would be the intent.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  You would therefore be able to serve whatever needs Enbridge had from the GTA A or B lines?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's the plan.


MR. MILLAR:  And that's what Parkway D would do?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You don't need anything else on the Brantford to Kirkwall project to serve Enbridge's needs for GTA A and B?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do not.


MR. MILLAR:  I think technically this may be a question for another panel, but I think it relates to exactly what we were talking about.


We put a list of draft conditions to the company, and one of them is the typical one-year window within which they have to get a shovel in the ground.


And Union was fine with all the conditions except for that one.  They said, No, actually we'd like to have until the end of 2016.


I assume that is to give you more time to sort out the pathway from Parkway to Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  There's a discussion - again, I'm still with Interrogatory No. 7 - relating to gas savings, 7(b), I think.  Yes, what impacts the delays would have.


And you'll see this is at page 3 of 4, the very first one, gas cost savings.  You discuss that if there is a delay, it will result in 103 to 138 million in gas savings not being realized.


I was trying to formulate a question about how that would impact the rate impacts that your projects have anticipated that you show in your application.  As I think about it more, I guess they don't.  Until you get Parkway to Maple sorted out, you don't build the line, at all; right?


So these are not rate impacts that are related to the applications that are before the Board; these are just increased gas costs that will be visited upon customers if you doesn't have a Parkway-to-Maple route; is that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's probably a better question for Mr. Tetreault on panel 2, but those gas cost savings are the commodity cost savings that result from Union Gas and Gaz Métro being able to get this cheaper gas from Dawn into their franchise areas for their system customers, and direct-purchase customers.


MR. MILLAR:  That answers my question.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  They are -- so it's clear -- they are a part of the application, and they will not be realized, if the path isn't opened.


MR. MILLAR:  I think those are my questions.  Mr. Viraney, did you have a couple of questions for this panel? 
Questions by Mr. Viraney:

MR. VIRANEY:  Khalil Viraney, Board Staff.  I have a question with respect to cost of compressors.  I'm not sure if this is the appropriate panel.


MR. REITDYK:  Yeah, I think that's panel 4 that can address the compressor costs.


MR. MILLAR:  You have nothing else, Mr. Viraney?


Okay.  That's it for Staff.  Mr. DeRose, did you want to go?

Questions by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  I have just a couple of follow-up questions on Mr. Millar's questions, so perhaps it would be appropriate if I go.


Mr. Isherwood, when Michael was asking you questions about Board Staff No. 7, you made reference to concerns that you had about the MOU; that "we still have concerns about the MOU," was the phrase you used.


Which MOU?  Was it the Enbridge TPCL MOU, or is there another MOU that you were referencing?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I can't recall my exact reference, but it's probably the Enbridge TCPL MOU, probably, subject to checking the transcript tonight.


MR. DeROSE:  And perhaps I'll ask a couple questions that might lead to that.  I just didn't know -- if you can check the transcript, I didn't know what MOU you were talking about.


In terms of if you were to go the route that you and GMI or GMI or some combination thereof were to build the Parkway-to-Maple yourself, would you require transportation on the GTA project or portions of the GTA project to get your gas into Quebec?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent that we get access to the Enbridge Parkway-to-Albion line, then we would need to ship on that line, and then we would build from Albion to Maple to complete the path to the TPCL system.


MR. DeROSE:  And is –- is my understanding, then, correct that Union's concern about the current MOU between Enbridge and TPCL is that if you were to build the line and TPCL didn't but the MOU remains binding, that TPCL has all of the access transportation on that line and that you would not have access to it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's our view that that pipeline should be an open-access pipeline, and the MOU keeps it very restricted to TCPL.


Enbridge, it's obvious that they're building the line, they need access to it, but the excess above the Enbridge needs are solely kept to the benefit of TPCL, and restricting our eastern customers and the customers in Quebec access to Dawn.


MR. DeROSE:  Is that the case regardless of whether you have to build the Parkway-to-Maple line yourself?


So you would have those similar concerns even if TCPL build that line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think option B, as I described it, would be if somebody were to build a pipeline from Parkway to Maple directly, therefore not dependent upon the Albion pipeline.  I do call that plan B.


The preference is still to use the efficient use of one set of assets, which would be the Albion line.  It would not make a lot of sense for the Province of Ontario to have two large-diameter, high-pressure pipelines built within 50 feet of each other.


MR. DeROSE:  Right, but if the Albion line is the only line that is available, if there is not a tandem line built next to the Albion line, under the current MOU Union may be excluded from use of that pipeline?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in the first read of it, I would say the market in general is restricted from access to that pipeline, but I think there's definitely a need to see if there is a way to get access to the pipeline.


MR. DeROSE:  These concerns -- there's been a lot of reference in both Union's application and then Enbridge's application about the various conversations and communications and cooperation between TPCL, Union and Enbridge.  Has this issue been an issue of debate between the three companies?


I've not seen it in any of the documents that were produced in the IRs.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, well, the MOU is -- we didn't see it until the interrogatories were answered, which was Friday night.


MR. DeROSE:  Neither did I.


[Laughter]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So we're on the same page.


So I would say going back to a January, February time frame, I would say there was pretty strong alignment with Enbridge, Gaz Métro, TransCanada and Union in terms of building the path.


And where it kind of went sideways is when TransCanada elected not to build it because of the NEB decision, and that came out in sort of early April, I believe it was, and the next chapter of the story was the MOU.


We started working on the environmental assessment soon after the TPCL letter to us saying they were not planning on building.


MR. DeROSE:  And can I take it -- I'm sorry, but just to clarify your last comment about not seeing the MOU until last Friday, I take it that you didn't know that you may be excluded from that particular piece of -- from access to that transportation piece until you saw the MOU?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What we knew was happening was Enbridge and TransCanada were going to jointly develop that pipeline between Parkway and Albion, and the MOU was around that activity.  So the consequences beyond that we weren't aware of.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


We have around 10 minutes.  Is there anyone who can squeeze themselves into that time frame?


Randy doesn't want to come back tomorrow.  He had his hand up first, so you're up.


[Laughter]

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  I'll be back tomorrow, but I've just got one follow-up question, and it's from some of Mr. Millar's questions. 


You've indicated that you would build -- that you could build the Albion-to-Maple link if you had access to the Parkway-to-Albion transportation.


Which pipelines, Parkway-to-Albion, are you talking about?  Are you talking about the current 36-inch proposed by Enbridge, or the originally proposed 42-inch?  Which would you prefer?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think as I understand the 36-inch pipeline, there's significant capacity there for Gaz Métro and for Union.  There's enough capacity on that line.


My own two cents would be build as big as you can, because you have one chance to do it.


MR. AIKEN:  That's my only question.  Thanks.
Questions by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  I have a follow-up on the same topic, just a follow-up.


Going back to (a)1, Staff 7, you talked about the two options and your preferred option being the Albion-to-Maple.  So the questions are as follows.


In terms of your partner in that venture, GMI, has GMI got Regis approval to enter into that JV, or has it only got at the moment Regis approval for services?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say neither Union nor Gaz Métro have gone that far.  This is a two- or three-week-old project, so early days.


DR. HIGGIN:  To be very precise, the Regis in principle approved the change of gas sourcing for GMI and the services that would go with that; am I -- I'm correct.


So the question is:  They have not been back with the idea of this joint venture?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thanks.  And you don't have an MOU in motion for dealing with that pipeline at the moment?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Only in top of mind.


DR. HIGGIN:  Top of mind?  Okay.  Now, just confirm the capacity requirement, would it be the same for the Albion-to-Maple for, in one case, GMI, and then in the other case, for Union?  What would those capacities be?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The total capacities would be 110,000 GJs a day for Union, and then 258,000 GJs a day for Gaz Métro.


MR. HIGGIN:  So those are corresponding to your original needs, basically?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. HIGGIN:  I see.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Just, again, a follow-up.  I understand that TransCanada presumably didn't get approval to build that section because you are trying to encourage people to contract long-haul on their system, and if you build short-haul, then presumably you would look to contract on TransCanada from Maple to wherever.


What is your understanding of TransCanada's contracting policies down the road in order for you to get capacity from Maple to your franchise area?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our understanding is there is capacity existing once you get to Maple.  The constraint is really between Parkway and Maple.


MR. GARNER:  Would they contract?  I guess that is the question.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be a request to be made to TransCanada and/or the NEB.


MR. GARNER:  Have you had those discussions as yet?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Have not.


MR. GARNER:  Thanks.

Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, just quickly.  Just in terms of you saying that the Brantford to Kirkwall line cannot be done without the Albion to Maple, is Union amending its application, or does it plan to amend its application for that line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, our intent still to have the capacity flowing in 2015 either with TransCanada building or with ourselves building.  And we have asked for an extension with the Board to have an in-service date as late at November 1 of 2016 in case we get delayed.  Our intent is to still build to that path.


MS. GIRVAN:  So the only thing you are changing, then, is the proposed in-service date?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Or potential date, that's right.


MS. GIRVAN:  Then the other thing is I guess what we've heard today is that Union has concerns about the fact that Enbridge has changed its application and its arrangements with TPCL, and I think -- I guess the primarily objection to Union is the sort of exclusivity included in the MOU; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Really the restriction to the path, not being able to get into the path.


MS. GIRVAN:  Does Union have any other concerns, broadly or even specific details, with respect to changes to Enbridge's application?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  When you say "changes" to the application, what are you referring to?  The MOU itself?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, the change to the 36 pipeline.  I mean, basically they have said, We've changed our application.


MR. SMITH:  Changed in what respect?


MS. GIRVAN:  They have changed it from 42 to 36, and they have -- the change is also the ownership change with respect to TPCL originally being part of the ownership.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I'm not as concerned about the ownership.  It's more about the access to the pipeline.


MS. GIRVAN:  So that's your primary concern?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Can I follow up?  I just want to -- and I know you don't know, because you're not TCPL, but in the absence of TPCL building from Albion to Maple, what in your mind would be the reason for TPCL to contract for capacity on segment A of Enbridge's pipe?  That would go nowhere for them, wouldn't it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  TransCanada currently has capacity that goes backhaul out of Dawn.  So if you kind of picture a map of the Great Lakes region, they send gas backhaul out of Dawn - this is during winter primarily - onto the Great Lakes system, which is an affiliate.


It takes it back to Manitoba.  It then does a right-hand turn, goes across northern Ontario and back to Toronto.  We call that "around the horn", just kind of a term that Union Gas has been using for a number of years.


That's been going on since about 2004.  It's about half a BCF or 500,000 gJs, roughly, a day of capacity.  I would say for the first few years they had that capability, it wasn't used very frequently.


This last winter, it was used almost every day January through March.  It's just really a function of the gas dynamics in North America changing.  The supplies in from western Canada are in decline.  TPCL pipe is flowing much lower volumes, 0.1 or 0.1 BCF a day last year, which is less than half of their total capacity.


And as that system has changed, to meet their contractual obligations at Parkway they have to actually go around the horn, so back to Manitoba and across the top.


So TPCL may have some interest in moving some or all of that volume, I'm going to say, on the path, but on Union Gas from Dawn to Parkway, on the Albion line to Albion, and then up to Maple and to the market, whether that be eastern Ontario or Quebec.


I need to be clear that those volumes have been flowing since 2004.  There is nothing new flowing.  What we're trying to do is get incremental volume to eastern Ontario and to Quebec that's economic and provides an economic benefit for the customers.


MR. GARNER:  I think I understand that.  Maybe I'm not being clear, or maybe you answered it.  What I'm trying to grapple with is, if you were to build, for instance, the segment that goes from Albion to Maple, or you and your partners, in your mind would there still be a reason to take capacity to segment A Enbridge line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So Gaz Métro and Union Gas were in their open season last year to flow the 371 -- 368,000 gJs.  So that is all incremental volume going back to Dawn to supply eastern Ontario and Quebec.


What I mentioned about around the horn is existing volumes that are getting to Parkway a different way, that they may change and put back on the Union system to Parkway, and then on the Albion line and the Maple, going up to Maple, to get into eastern Ontario and into Quebec.


But their existing volume is flowing a different path today around the horn.


So your question is -- yes, TPCL may still want access to the same path for using those existing volumes.


MR. GARNER:  Even if you to own the other segment that goes from Albion to Maple?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Potentially.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we will have to end it there for today.  We have another full day tomorrow.  We will remind people we are starting at 9:00 a.m., so I'll see you then.  Thank you.

 --- Whereupon the proceedings adjourned at 5:02 p.m.
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